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PREFACE

Many federal circuits have pattern jury instructions formulated by committees of
judges and practitioners and approved by the circuit for use in criminal cases. The Fourth
Circuit does not. Thus, the purpose of this work, Pattern Criminal Instructions for
Federal Criminal Cases, District of South Carolina, is to fill that void by publishing pattern
instructions annotated primarily by reference to Fourth Circuit and Supreme Court cases.
Authority from other circuits is referenced only when there is no Fourth Circuit or Supreme
Court authority on point.

A good reference for pattern jury instructions in the federal circuits may be found
at the Marquette University Law school website:

https://libraryguides.law.marquette.edu/c.php?g=318617&p=3806593. If you can’t find a
good jury instruction in this book, this is a good site to check.

The instructions are organized in six sections, reflecting the order in which jury
instructions are generally given.

1. Preliminary Matters addresses burden of proof, presumption of innocence,
direct and circumstantial evidence, note-taking by jurors, and similar general topics. Most
judges have standard preliminary charges and do not require counsel to submit proposed
instructions on preliminary matters.

2. Specific Criminal Statutes provides pattern charges for most federal crimes,
separated into crimes under Title 18 and Other Titles. Elements of the offense are
included for each crime. Where appropriate, definitions of the key words or phrases used
in the elements are also provided. Potential affirmative defenses are explained, and
pertinent case law is cited in footnotes.

3. Definitions provides explanations of terms commonly used throughout the
criminal code. These are terms whose meaning does not vary depending on the crime
charged.

4. Defenses provides jury instructions for various defenses to crimes. In addition,
it provides defense-specific definitions for common terms and explains to which crimes
each defense is applicable.

5. Final Instructions advise the jury as to rules they must follow in evaluating
evidence admitted during the trial and in reaching a verdict. These non-offense-specific
instructions also include rules for deliberations.

6. Practice Notes addresses a number of lesser known legal principles which may
influence the preparation of jury instructions. For example, this section covers special
verdicts, lesser-included offenses, as well as jury nullification.
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1. INTRODUCTION

Jury instructions should be based on the particular facts of the case on trial and
should not be merely boilerplate abstractions. Because abstract instructions that are not
adjusted to the facts of a particular case may confuse the jury, it is plain error for a
district judge to fail to relate the evidence to the law. United States v. Holley, 502 F.2d
273, 276 (4th Cir. 1974) (quotations and citations omitted).

The charge must outline to the jury the elements of the crime. Mere reading of the
statute to the jury will not suffice. An exposition of the constituents of the offense is
mandatory and indispensable. See United States v. Head, 641 F.2d 174, 180 (4th Cir.
1981); United States v. Polowichak, 783 F.2d 410, 415 (4th Cir. 1986). A jury instruction
is not erroneous, If in light of the whole record, [it] adequately informed the jury of the
controlling legal principles without misleading or confusing the jury to the prejudice of
the objecting party. United States v. Miltier, 882 F.3d 81, 89 (4" Cir. 2018). “Even if a
jury was erroneously instructed, however, we will not set aside the resulting verdict
unless the erroneous instruction seriously prejudiced the challenging party’s case. Id. See
also United States v. Alvarado, 816 F.3d 242, 248 (4lh Cir. 2016).

The definition of the elements of a criminal offense is entrusted to the legislature,
particularly in the case of federal crimes, which are solely creatures of statute. Liparota v.
United States, 471 U.S. 419, 424 (1985).

In Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46 (1991), the Supreme Court reiterated settled
law that a general jury verdict [is] valid so long as it [is] legally supportable on one of the
submitted grounds .... 502 U.S. at 49. The Supreme Court admonished that if the
evidence is insufficient to support an alternative legal theory of liability, it would
generally be preferable for the court to give an instruction removing that theory from the
jury’s consideration. /d. at 60.

The fact that a party did not pursue a particular theory does not preclude the trial
judge from giving an instruction on that theory where it deems such an instruction to be
appropriate. United States v. Horton, 921 F.2d 540, 544 (4th Cir. 1990).
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II. PRELIMINARY
A.  Admonishing Attorneys

Sometimes the court must admonish or warn an attorney who out of zeal for his or
her client does something which is not in keeping with the rules of evidence or procedure.
If this happens, do not permit this to have any effect on your evaluation of the merits of
any evidence that comes before you .... You are to draw absolutely no inference against
the side to whom an admonition of the court may have been addressed during the trial of
this case.'

B. Burden of Proof

The government must prove each element of the crime charged to each and every
one of you beyond a reasonable doubt. If the government fails to prove an element
beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find that that element has not been proven and
find the defendant not guilty. While the government’s burden of proof is a strict and
heavy burden, it is not necessary that it be proved beyond all possible doubt. It is only
required that the government’s proof exclude any reasonable doubt concerning that
element. The defendant never has the burden of disproving the existence of anything
which the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt. The burden is wholly upon
the government. The law does not require the defendant to produce any evidence.> To
date the Fourth Circuit has held that there is no requirement to define reasonable doubt.
The concept of reasonable doubt can be sufficiently understood by the jury without
precise definition. The Court has held that “[t]he only exception to our categorical disdain
for definition is when the jury specifically requests it.” United States v. Adkins, 937 F.d
(4™ Cir. 1991).

C. Discussing the Case

You are not to discuss the case with anyone or permit anyone to discuss it with
you. Until you retire to the jury room at the end of the case to deliberate on your verdict,
you simply are not to talk about the case.?

You are not even to discuss the case among yourselves until you have heard all of
the evidence and you have received final instructions from me.

U United States v. Smith, 441 F.3d 254, 269 (4th Cir. 2006) (approvingly quoting district
court ‘s instructions).

2 See United States v. Moss, 756 F.2d 329 (4th Cir. 1985).

3 United States v. Nelson, 102 F.3d 1344, 1348 (4th Cir. 1996).




You are not to read any newspaper or internet accounts of this case or listen to any
radio or television accounts of this case. You are not to allow any member of your family,
or a friend, acquaintance, or other person to tell you what was contained in such accounts.

D. Evidence

Evidence can come in many forms. It can be testimony about what the witness saw,
heard, tasted, touched, or smelled, something that came to the witness’s knowledge
through his senses.

Evidence can be an exhibit admitted into evidence.
Evidence can be a person’s opinion.

Some evidence proves a fact directly, such as testimony of a witness who saw a jet
plane flying across the sky. Some evidence proves a fact indirectly, such as testimony of
a witness who saw only the white trail that jet planes often leave. This indirect evidence
1s sometimes referred to as circumstantial evidence. In either instance, the witness’s
testimony is evidence that a jet plane flew across the sky.*

Circumstantial evidence is evidence of facts and circumstances from which one
may infer connected facts which reasonably follow in the common experience of
mankind. Circumstantial evidence is evidence which tends to prove a disputed fact by
proof of another fact or other facts which have a logical tendency to lead the mind to the
conclusion that the disputed fact has been established.’

[Clircumstantial evidence is treated no differently than direct evidence, and may be
sufficient to support a verdict of guilty, even though it does not exclude every reasonable
hypothesis consistent with innocence.’

The following are not evidence: arguments and statements by the lawyers,
questions and objections by the lawyers, testimony that was stricken or that you have
been instructed to disregard, comments or questions by me, and anything that you may
have seen or heard when the court was not in session.

4 Peter J. Tiersma, Communicating with Juries: How to Draft More Understandable
Instructions, 10 Scribes J. Legal Writing 37 (2005-2006).

5 United States v. Yousef, 327 F.3d 56, 133 (2d Cir. 2003) (approvingly quoting instruction
given by district court).

® United States v. Gray, 137 F.3d 765, 772 (4th Cir. 1998) (quoting United States v.
Jackson, 863 F.2d 1168, 1173 (4th Cir.1989)).
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E. Indictment
Giving the indictment to the jury is within the trial
judge’s discretion.

The indictment is not evidence. It is given to you solely as an aid in following the
court’s instructions and the arguments of counsel.’

If the indictment contains irrelevant allegations, ordinarily they should be redacted,
or the court can instruct the jury that certain counts or allegations should be disregarded
as irrelevant to the defendant(s) on trial. United States v. Polowichak, 783 F.2d 410, 413
(4th Cir. 1986).

F. Note-Taking

Allowing jurors to take notes is within the trial judge’s discretion. If
allowed, use the following instruction:

You are permitted to take notes during the trial. You, of course, are not obliged to
take any notes, and some feel that the taking of notes is not helpful because it may
distract you so that you do not hear and evaluate all of the evidence. If you do take notes,
do not allow note taking to distract you from the ongoing proceedings.

Your notes should be used only as memory aids. You should not give your notes
precedence over your independent recollection of the evidence. If you do not take notes,
you should rely on your own independent recollection of the proceedings and you should
not be influenced by the notes of other jurors. Notes are not entitled to any greater weight
than tgle recollection or impression of each juror as to what the testimony may have
been.

Notes are not official transcripts and may not cover points that are significant to
another juror. The contents of notes must not be disclosed except to other jurors.’

G. Presumption of Innocence

The law presumes a defendant to be innocent, and the presumption of innocence
alone is sufficient to acquit a defendant, unless the jury is satisfied beyond a reasonable
doubt of the defendant’s guilt after careful and impartial consideration of the evidence
introduced at trial.

7 United States v. Polowichak, 783 F.2d 410, 413 (4th Cir. 1986).
8 Seeid. at 413 (citing United States v. Rhodes, 631 F.2d 43, 46 n.3 (5th Cir. 1980)).

® Id. (citing United States v. MacLean, 578 F.2d 64, 66 (3d Cir. 1978)).




PRELIMINARY

A defendant has no obligation to establish his innocence. The burden is always
upon the prosecution to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and this burden never
shifts to the defendant. If the jury, after careful and impartial consideration of all the
evidence, has a reasonable doubt that a defendant was guilty of the charge under
consideration, you must find that defendant not guilty of that charge.

If, on the other hand, the jury finds that the evidence is sufficient to overcome the
presumption of innocence and to convince you beyond a reasonable doubt of the guilt of
the defendant of the charge under consideration, it must find the defendant guilty of that
charge.'”

H. Questioning by Jurors

If any juror would like to have a particular question asked of a witness during his
testimony, the juror should write the question out and have it passed to the judge. If the
question is not legally improper, I will ask the witness the question.

I am not encouraging you to ask a large number of questions, but you should not
hesitate to ask a question if you feel that there is something that you need to know from a
witness and the lawyers or the court did not bring it out.

NOTE

The proper handling of juror questions is a matter within the discretion of the trial
judge. United States v. Callahan, 588 F.2d 1078, 1086 n.2 (5th Cir. 1979). There is
nothing improper about the practice of allowing occasional questions from jurors, but the
Callahan opinion should not be read as an endorsement of any particular procedure.

I. Voir Dire

The Supreme Court has not required specific voir dire questions except in very
limited circumstances—capital cases, ... and cases where racial or ethnic issues are
inextricably bound up with the conduct of the trial such that inquiry into racial or ethnic
prejudice of the jurors is constitutionally mandated .....United States v. Jeffery, 631 F.3d
669, 673 (4th Cir. 2011) (quoting Rosales-Lopez v. United States, 451 U.S.182, 189
(1981)). In most non-capital cases, a district court “need not pursue a specific line of
questioning on voir dire, provided the voir dire as a whole is reasonably sufficient to
uncover bias or partiality in the venire. /d. at 674 (quotations and citation omitted).

In Jeffery, the defendant wanted the district court to inquire about a juror’s ability
to apply the reasonable-doubt standard and burden of proof. The Fourth Circuit reiterated
that it has rejected this approach. Id. (citing United States v. Robinson, 804 F.2d 280, 281
(4th Cir. 1986)).

10 United States v. Porter, 821 F.2d 968, 973 (4th Cir. 1987).




TITLE 18

III. TITLE 18

18 U.S.C.§2 AIDING AND ABETTING

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2 makes it a crime to aid and abet another
person to commit a crime.

The guilt of an accused in a criminal case may be established without proof that he
personally did every act constituting the offense alleged. The law recognizes that
ordinarily anything a person can do for himself may also be accomplished by him
through direction of another person as his agent, or by acting in concert with, or under the
direction of another person or persons in a joint effort or enterprise.'

For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that the crime charged was in fact committed by someone other than the
defendant [the court should instruct on the elements of that crime];

- Second, that the defendant participated in the criminal venture as in something
that he wished to bring about;

- Third, that the defendant associated himself with the criminal venture
knowingly and voluntarily; and

- Fourth, that the defendant sought by his actions to make the criminal venture
succeed.’

Simply put, aiding and abetting means to assist the perpetrator of the crime.?

One who aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or procures the commission of
an act is as responsible for that act as if he committed it directly.

To prove association, the government must show that the defendant shared in the
criminal intent of the person(s) committing the crime. This requires evidence that the
defendant was aware of (his) (their) criminal intent and the unlawful nature of the
criminal acts.* See also United States v. Odum, 65 F.4™ 714 (4™ Cir. 2023) (must charge
requisite level of “intent” for accomplice liability).

! United States v. Chorman, 910 F.2d 102, 108, 113 (4th Cir. 1990) (instruction not error).
2 United States v. Moye, 454 F.3d 390, 400-01 (4th Cir. 2006) (en banc).
3 United States v. Horton, 921 F.2d 540, 543 (4th Cir. 1990).

4 United States v. Moye, 422 F.3d 207, 213 (4th Cir. 2005), rev‘d on other grounds, 454
F.3d 390 (4th Cir. 2006) (en banc).
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Evidence that the defendant merely brought about the arrangement that made the
criminal act possible does not alone support a conclusion that the defendant was aware of
the criminal nature of the act.’

The government is not required to prove that the defendant participated in every
stage of an illegal venture, but the government is required to prove beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendant participated at some stage and that the participation was
accompanied by knowledge of the result and intent to bring about that result.®

There must be evidence to establish that the defendant engaged in some affirmative
conduct, that is, that the defendant committed an act designed to aid in the success of the
venture, and there must be evidence to establish that the defendant shared in the criminal
intent of the person the defendant was aiding and abetting.”

It is not necessary that the person who was aided and assisted be tried and convicted
of the offense.”

It is not necessary that the government prove the actual identity of the perpetrator of
the crime. The government must prove that the underlying crime was committed [or
attempted, if attempt is included] by some person and that the defendant aided and
abetted that person.’

If two persons act in concert with a common purpose or design to commit an
unlawful act, then the act of one of them in furtherance of the unlawful act is in law
considered the act of the other.'”

5 United States v. Winstead, 708 F.2d 925, 927 (4th Cir. 1983).

¢ United States v. Burgos, 94 F.3d 849, 873 (4th Cir. 1996) (en banc); United States v.
Wilson, 135 F.3d 291, 305 (4th Cir. 1998). See also Rosemond v United States, 572 U.S. 65 (2014);
United States v. Oloyede, 933 F.3d 302 (2019); and United States v. Benson, 957 F.3d 218 (2020).

7 United States v. Beck, 615 F.2d 441, 449 (7th Cir. 1980). However, the defendant need
not have the exact intent as the principal.

8 United States v. Barnett, 667 F.2d 835, 841 (9th Cir. 1982).
9 United States v. Horton, 921 F.2d 540, 543-44 (4th Cir. 1990).
10'We can discern no Congressional intent to eliminate an instruction on a common law

confederation by its promulgation of 18 U.S.C. 2. United States v. Sims, 543 F.2d 1089, 1090 (4th
Cir. 1976).
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The government must prove that the defendant counseled and advised the
commission of the crime, and that the counsel and advice influenced the perpetration of
the crime. There is no requirement that fixes a time limit within which the crime must be
committed."!

If the person who was assisted or induced commits the crime he was assisted or
induced to commit, then the person who assisted or induced him is guilty of aiding and
abetting.'?

The government must prove that the defendant participated in the crime charged.

The mere presence of a defendant where a crime is being committed even coupled
with knowledge by the defendant that a crime is being committed or the mere
acquiescence by a defendant in the criminal conduct of others even with guilty
knowledge is not sufficient to establish guilt."

However, the jury may find knowledge and voluntary participation from evidence of
presence when the presence is such that it would be unreasonable for anyone other than a
knowledgeable participant to be present.'

NOTE

See generally United States v. Winstead, 708 F.2d 925, 927 (4th Cir. 1983).

It is of no consequence that in the indictment the defendant was charged only as the
principal and not as an aider or abettor. [O]ne may be convicted of aiding and abetting
under an indictment which charges only the principal offense. United States v. Duke, 409
F.2d 669, 671 (4th Cir. 1969).

a defendant who merely aided and abetted in the [mail and securities] fraud and
performed all of his acts in relation thereto prior to the mailing and outside the limitations
period nonetheless may be prosecuted for his role where the fraud was completed inside
the limitations period. United States v. United Med. and Surgical Supply Corp., 989 F.2d
1390, 1398 (4th Cir. 1993).

An aider and abettor may be prosecuted in the district in which the principal acted in
furtherance of the substantive crime. United States v. Kibler, 667 F.2d 452, 455 (4th Cir.

1 Barnett, 667 F.2d at 841.
12 1d. at 841-42.

13 See United States v. Moye, 422 F.3d 207, 217 (4th Cir. 2005) (citing instruction given
by the district court), rev ‘d on other grounds, 454 F.3d 390 (4th Cir. 2006) (en banc).

14 See United States v. Gallardo-Trapero, 185 F.3d 307, 322 (5th Cir. 1999).
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1982). In other words, it does not matter where the aider and abettor acted, venue
depends on where the principal acted. However, venue might be improper if the
defendant is not charged as an aider and abettor. See United States v. Cabrales, 524 U.S.
1, 7 (1998).

In United States v. Moye, 454 F.3d 390 (4th Cir. 2006) (en banc), the defendant was
charged with 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1), felon in possession of firearms, and 922(j),
possession of stolen firearms, and aiding and abetting. Moye and two co-defendants were
caught burglarizing a gun dealer. The district court gave a general aiding and abetting
charge, set forth above. However, there was no evidence that either of the co-defendants
were felons, so the aiding and abetting charge did not apply to the 922(g) charge. The
Fourth Circuit said the “preferable approach would have been for the court to give an
instruction that tailored the aiding and abetting theory exclusively to the 922(j) count. 454
F.3d at 398.

Conspiracy requires proof of agreement, aiding and abetting does not. United States
v. Beck, 615 F.2d 441, 449 n.9 (7th Cir. 1980).

Aiding and abetting is not a lesser included offense of conspiracy. United States v.
Price, 763 F.2d 640, 642 (4th Cir. 1985).

A person cannot be found guilty of aiding and abetting a crime that already has been
committed. United States v. Daly, 842 F.2d 1380, 1389 (2d Cir. 1988).

18 U.S.C. § 2(b) CAUSING ANOTHER TO COMMIT A CRIME

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b) makes it a crime to cause another person
to commit a crime.

The guilt of an accused in a criminal case may be established without proof that he
personally did every act constituting the offense alleged. The law recognizes that
ordinarily, anything a person can do for himself may also be accomplished by him
through direction of another person as his agent, or by acting in concert with, or under the
direction of, another person or persons in a joint effort or enterprise."

For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that another person committed an act that is prohibited by law [the court
should instruct on the elements of that crime]; and

- Second, that the defendant caused that person to do so.

15 United States v. Chorman, 910 F.2d 102, 108 n.9 (4th Cir. 1990) (quoting instruction).
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NOTE

In United States v. Sahadi, 292 F.2d 565 (2d Cir. 1961), the indictment alleged that
the defendant unlawfully issued postal money orders to be presented by another. The trial
judge instructed the jury on 2. The Second Circuit held that it was not a fatal defect that
the indictment did not expressly charge the defendant under §2. There is no rule of
pleading which requires that a federal indictment state whether the offense charged was
as to one or more of its various elements committed by the defendant directly or
indirectly through another. 292 F.2d at 569.

It is not necessary that the government prove that the person who committed the
prohibited act had any criminal intent. In United States v. West Indies Transport, Inc.,
127 F.3d 299 (3d Cir. 1997), the defendants contended that they could not be convicted
because the government conceded that immigrant workers who presented false
information to the INS at the instigation of West Indies Transport lacked criminal intent.
The Third Circuit said that a defendant is liable if he willfully causes an act to be done by
another which would be illegal if he did it himself. For this reason, whether the
immigrant workers lacked criminal intent is irrelevant so long as West Indies Transport
intentionally caused them to submit false information. 127 F.3d at 307 (citation omitted).

18 U.S.C. § 3 ACCESSORY AFTER THE FACT

Title 18, United States Code, Section 3 makes it a crime to give assistance to a
person who has committed a federal crime. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that a crime against the United States had been committed [the court
should instruct on the elements of that crime];

- Second, that the defendant knew that the crime had been committed;

- Third, that the defendant received, relieved, comforted, or assisted the person
who committed the crime; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so in order to hinder or prevent the apprehension,
trial, or punishment of the person who committed the crime.

NOTE

For one to be convicted as an accessory after the fact, the substantive crime must be
complete. United States v. McCoy, 721 F.2d 473 (4th Cir. 1983).

See United States v. Osborn, 120 F.3d 59, 63 (7th Cir. 1997). In Osborn, the
defendant argued that a lie to authorities is insufficient, standing alone, to violate 18
U.S.C. §3. The Seventh Circuit acknowledged the issue, but did not need to provide a
definitive answer.

10
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See also Gov't of Virgin Islands v. Aquino, 378 F.2d 540, 553 (3d Cir. 1967).

18 U.S.C. §4 MISPRISION

Title 18, United States Code, Section 4 makes it a crime to conceal information
about a felony offense. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove
each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that a felony crime was committed;

- Second, that the defendant knew the felony had been committed;

- Third, that the defendant failed to notify authorities; and

- Fourth, that the defendant took an affirmative step to conceal the crime.'®

NOTE

Pre-arrest silence may satisty the “failure to disclose element, but silence alone is
not concealment. United States v. Wilkes, No. 92-5037, 1992 WL 188133 (4th Cir. Aug.
7, 1992). However, harboring a fugitive and assisting in the disposal of evidence would
constitute concealment. /d. at *2.

In United States v. Pittman, 527 F.2d 444 (4th Cir. 1975), the Fourth Circuit
affirmed the defendant’s conviction because her untruthful statement was intended to
conceal her husband’s participation in a bank robbery.

18 U.S.C. 13 ASSIMILATIVE CRIMES ACT

Title 18, United States Code, Section 13 makes it a crime to commit certain offenses
within the special territorial jurisdiction of the United States. For you to find the
defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable
doubt:

- First, [all of the elements for the state crime alleged];'” and

16 United States v. Wilkes, No. 92-5037, 1992 WL 188133 at *2 (4th Cir. Aug. 7, 1992)
(citing United States v. Baez, 732 F.2d 780, 782 (10th Cir. 1984)).

17 See Ralph King Anderson Jr., South Carolina Requests to Charge - Criminal (2007),
and Miller W. Shealy Jr. & Margaret M. Lawton, South Carolina Crimes: Elements and Defenses
(2009), for elements of various state offenses.

11
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- Second, that the offense occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.'®

“Special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States includes lands
reserved or acquired for the use of the United States, and under the exclusive or
concurrent jurisdiction of the United States, or any place purchased or otherwise acquired
by the United States by consent of the legislature of the State in which the land is
situated, for the building of a fort, arsenal, dock, or other needed building.lg

NOTE

The Assimilative Crimes Act assimilates the elements and punishment of state
offenses when committed on or within a federal jurisdiction, unless the offense has been
preempted by a federal statute that proscribes the same conduct.

The Assimilative Crimes Act does not assimilate state procedures or state rules of
evidence. Kay v. United States, 255 F.2d 476, 479 (4th Cir. 1958), abrogated on other
grounds by Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), abrogated by Crawford v. Washington,
541 U.S. 36 (2004).

For cases discussing special jurisdiction, especially pertaining to Fort Jackson, see
the following: United States v. Lavender, 602 F.2d 639 (4th Cir. 1979); United States v.
Lovely, 319 F.2d 673 (4th Cir. 1963); United States v. Benson, 495 F.2d 475 (5th Cir.
1974); and State v. Zeigler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182 (S.C. 1979), overruled on other
grounds by Joseph v. State, 351 S.C. 551, 571 S.E.2d 280 (S.C. 2002).

See also Williams v. United States, 327 U.S. 711, 724-25 (1946) (United States may
invoke Assimilative Crimes Act to prosecute offense under state law only when there is
no enactment of Congress that punishes the offender); United States v. Wright, No. 92-
5527, 1993 WL 18321 (4th Cir. Jan. 29, 1993); United States v. Eades, 633 F.2d 1075
(4th Cir. 1980) (en banc).

18 See United States v. Sturgis, 48 F.3d 784, 786 (4th Cir. 1995).

19 See 18 U.S.C. 7 (listing other definitions). In United States v. Passaro, 577 F.3d 207 (4th
Cir. 2009), the Fourth Circuit construed 7(9) as reaching only fixed locations. An inexhaustive list
of factors relevant in determining whether a particular location qualifies as the premises of a United
States mission include the following: the size of a given military mission’s premises, the length of
United States control over those premises, the substantiality of its improvements, actual use of the
premises, the occupation of the premises by a significant number of United States personnel, and
the host nation’s consent (whether formal or informal) to the presence of the United States. In
Passaro, the court found that Asadabad Firebase in Afghanistan came within the statutory definition,
such that Passaro, a civilian contractor, could be prosecuted for assaulting a prisoner, in violation of
18 U.S.C. 113.
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This statute applies to members of the armed services if they have not been
prosecuted under the Uniform Code of Military Justice for the same offense. United
States v. Walker, 552 F.2d 566, 567 (4th Cir. 1977).

Special territorial jurisdictions in the District of South Carolina include Fort
Jackson, parts of Shaw Air Force Base, parts of McEntire Air National Guard Base,
Parris Island, and the Marine Corps Air Station.

Special territorial jurisdiction does not include proprietary jurisdiction. Most federal
buildings, such as courthouses and office buildings, are proprietary jurisdictions, and are
usually covered only by regulations of the General Services Administration published in
the Code of Federal Regulations.

18 U.S.C. 17 INSANITY DEFENSE REFORM ACT

The defendant has the burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that at
the time of the offense, he was unable to appreciate the nature and quality of the
wrongfulness of his acts because of a severe mental disease or defect.?’

NOTE

The language of the statute leaves no room for a defense that raises any form of
legal excuse based upon one’s lack of volitional control including a diminished ability or
failure to reflect adequately upon the consequences or nature of one’s actions. United
States v. Worrell, 313 F.3d 867, 872 (4th Cir. 2002) (quotation and citation omitted).
However, the Fourth Circuit is “inclined to agree with those [circuit] courts holding that
[the] Insanity Defense Reform Act does not prohibit psychiatric evidence of a mental
condition short of insanity when such evidence is offered purely to rebut the
government’s evidence of specific intent, although such cases will be rare. /d. at 874. In
Worrell, because the psychiatrist’s opinion did not address the defendant’s intent to mail
the threatening letters (18 U.S.C. 876), it was properly excluded. The IDRA “bars a
defendant who is not pursuing an insanity defense from offering evidence of his lack of
volitional control as an alternative defense. /d. at 875.

In United States v. Flanery, No. 88-5605, 1989 WL 79731 (4th Cir. July 13, 1989), the
Fourth Circuit stated the following:

We note that the Eighth Circuit recognizes “that a defendant’s delusional belief
that his criminal conduct is morally justified may establish an insanity defense
under federal law, even where the defendant knows that the conduct is illegal.
United States v. Dubray, 854 F.2d 1099, 1101 (8th Cir. 1988). See also United

20 United States v. Cristobal, 293 F.3d 134, 144 (4th Cir. 2002).
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States v. Seqna, 555 F.2d 226, 232-33 (9th Cir. 1977). We are, however,
unwilling to adopt this rule under the facts of this case. A review of the record
indicates that there was no evidence of defendant’s moral justification of the
bank robbery merely evidence that voices compelled Flanery to rob the bank.
As the Dubray court stated, [t]he jury should be instructed on the distinction
between moral and legal wrongfulness, however, only where evidence at trial
suggests that this is a meaningful distinction in the circumstances of the case.
We hold that the trial court did not err in refusing Flanery’s proffered jury
instruction regarding moral wrongfulness.

1d. at *6 (citations omitted).

The Fourth Circuit has never required a jury instruction regarding the consequences
of a verdict of not guilty only by reason of insanity. United States v. McDonald, 444 F.
Appx 710 (4th Cir. 2011). See also Shannon v. United States, 512 U.S. 573, 580 (1994)
(The text of the Act gives no indication that jurors are to be instructed regarding the
consequences of an NGI verdict.)

18 U.S.C.32 DESTRUCTION OF AIRCRAFT

Title 18, United States Code, Section 32 makes it a crime to damage aircraft or
communicate false information concerning aircraft. For you to find the defendant guilty,
the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

32(2)(1)
- First, that the defendant set fire to, damaged, destroyed, disabled, or wrecked;
- Second, an aircraft in the special aircraft jurisdiction of the United States, or a

civil aircraft used, operated, or employed in interstate, overseas, or foreign air
commerce; and

- Third, that the defendant acted willfully.
32(2)(2)

- First, that the defendant placed, or caused to be placed, a destructive device or
substance in, upon, or in proximity to, or otherwise made or caused to be made
unworkable or unusable or hazardous to work or use;

- Second, an aircraft in the special aircraft jurisdiction of the United States, or a
civil aircraft used, operated, or employed in interstate, overseas, or foreign air
commerce, or any part or other materials used or intended to be used in
connection with the operation of such aircraft;

- Third, that the conduct was likely to endanger the safety of the aircraft; and
- Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully.
32(a)(3)
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First, that the defendant set fire to, damaged, destroyed, or disabled, or
interfered by force or violence with the operation of;

Second, an air navigation facility;

Third, that the conduct was likely to endanger the safety of an aircraft in flight;
and

Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully.

32(2)(4)

First, that the defendant set fire to, damaged, destroyed, disabled, or placed a
destructive device or substance in, on, or in proximity to;

Second, any appliance or structure, ramp, landing area, property, machine, or
apparatus or any facility or other material used, or intended to be used in
connection with the operation, maintenance, loading, unloading, or storage of an
aircraft or cargo carried or intended to be carried on an aircraft;

Third, that the aircraft was in the special aircraft jurisdiction of the United
States, or was a civil aircraft used, operated, or employed in interstate, overseas,
or foreign air commerce; and

Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully and with intent to damage, destroy, or
disable the aircraft.

32(2)(5)

First, that the defendant interfered with or disabled a person;

Second, that the person was engaged in the authorized operation of an aircraft in
the special aircraft jurisdiction of the United States, or a civil aircraft used,
operated, or employed in interstate, overseas, or foreign air commerce, or any
air navigation facility aiding in the navigation of such an aircraft; and

Third, that the defendant acted willfully and with intent to endanger the safety
of any person or with reckless disregard for the safety of human life.

32(2)(6)

First, that the defendant committed an act of violence against or incapacitated an
individual;

Second, that the individual was on an aircraft in the special aircraft jurisdiction
of the United States, or a civil aircraft used, operated, or employed in interstate,
overseas, or foreign air commerce;

Third, that the act was likely to endanger the safety of the aircraft; and
Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully.

32(2)(7)
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First, that the defendant communicated false information concerning an aircraft
in the special aircraft jurisdiction of the United States or a civil aircraft used,
operated, or employed in interstate, overseas, or foreign air commerce;

Second, that the defendant knew the information was false and under
circumstances in which the information may reasonably be believed;

Third, that the defendant acted willfully; and

Fourth, that, as a result of the false information being communicated, the safety
of an aircraft in flight was endangered.

Endanger means to bring into danger or peril of probable harm or loss; imperil or
threaten to danger; to create a dangerous situation.?!

32(2)(8)

Prohibits attempting or conspiring to violate 32(a)(1) through (7).

32(b)(1)

First, that the defendant performed an act of violence against an individual;

Second, that the individual was on board a civil aircraft registered in a country
other than the United States and the aircraft was in flight;

Third, that the act of violence was likely to endanger the safety of the aircraft;
Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully; and

Fifth, that a national of the United States was, or would have been, on board the
aircraft; the defendant is a national of the United States; or the defendant was
found in the United States.

32(b)(2)

First, that the defendant destroyed an aircraft while that aircraft was in service,
or caused damage to an aircraft which rendered the aircraft incapable of flight or
was likely to endanger the aircraft’s safety in flight;

Second, that the aircraft was a civil aircraft registered in a country other than the
United States;

Third, that the defendant acted willfully; and

Fourth, that a national of the United States was, or would have been, on board
the aircraft; the defendant is a national of the United States; or the defendant
was found in the United States.

32(b)(3)

21 United States v. Mendoza, 244 F.3d 1037, 1042 (9th Cir. 2001).
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- First, that the defendant placed or caused to be placed a device or substance on
an aircraft;

- Second, that the device or substance was likely to destroy the aircraft or cause
damage to it that rendered it incapable of flight or which was likely to endanger
the aircraft’s safety in flight;

- Third, that the aircraft was a civil aircraft registered in a country other than the
United States;

- Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully; and

- Fifth, that a national of the United States was, or would have been, on board the
aircraft; the defendant is a national of the United States; or the defendant was
found in the United States.

32(b)(4)

Prohibits attempting or conspiring to violate 32(b)(1) through (3).
32(c)
- First, that the defendant imparted or conveyed a threat that [would violate any of

32(a)(1) through (6) or 32(b)(1) through (3), and the court should reiterate the
elements of the appropriate subsection];

- Second, that the defendant acted willfully; and

- Third, that the defendant had the apparent determination and will to carry the
threat into execution.

Aircraft means a civil, military, or public contrivance invented, used, or designed to
navigate, fly, or travel in the air. [ 31(a)(1)]

Aviation quality, with respect to a part of an aircraft or space vehicle, means the
quality of having been manufactured, constructed, produced, maintained, repaired,
overhauled, rebuilt, reconditioned, or restored in conformity with applicable standards
specified by law (including applicable regulations). [ 31(a)(2)]

In flight means

(A) any time from the moment at which all the external doors of an aircraft are
closed following embarkation until the moment when any such door is opened for
disembarkation; and

(B) in the case of a forced landing, until competent authorities take over the
responsibility for the aircraft and the persons and property on board. [ 31(a)(4)]

In service means

(A) anytime from the beginning of preflight preparation of an aircraft by ground
personnel or by the crew for a specific flight until 24 hours after any landing; and
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(B) in any event includes the entire period during which the aircraft is in flight. [
31(a)(5)]
Special aircraft jurisdiction of the United States includes any of the following
aircraft in flight:
(a) a civil aircraft of the United States;
(b) an aircraft of the armed forces of the United States;
(c) another aircraft in the United States;
(d) another aircraft outside the United States

(1) that has its next scheduled destination or last place of departure in the
United States, if the aircraft next lands in the United States;

(2) on which an individual unlawfully seizes, exercises control of, or
attempts to seize or exercise control of an aircraft in flight by any
form of intimidation (or assists such an individual); or

(3) against which an individual unlawfully seizes, exercises control of, or
attempts to seize or exercise control of an aircraft in flight by any
form of intimidation (or assists such an individual), if the aircraft
lands in the United States with the individual still on the aircraft;

(e) any other aircraft leased without crew to a lessee whose principal place of
business is in the United States or, if the lessee does not have a principal

place of business, whose permanent residence is in the United States. [49

U.S.C. 46501(2)]

National of the United States means a citizen of the United States, or a person, who

though not a citizen of the United States, owes permanent allegiance to the United States.
[8 U.S.C. 1101(a)(22)]

NOTE

In United States v. Mendoza, 244 F.3d 1037, 1045 n.4 (9th Cir. 2001), the Ninth
Circuit assumed, without deciding, that this section contains a causation element.
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18 U.S.C. 33 DESTRUCTION OF MOTOR VEHICLES

Title 18, United States Code, Section 33(a) makes it a crime to damage motor
vehicles. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

1

- First, that the defendant damaged, disabled, destroyed, tampered with, or placed
or caused to be placed any explosive or other destructive substance in, upon, or
in proximity to, any motor vehicle;

- Second, that the motor vehicle was used, operated, or employed in interstate or
foreign commerce, or its cargo or material used or intended to be used in
connection with its operation;

- Third, that the defendant did so with intent to endanger the safety of any person
on board or anyone who the defendant believed would board the motor vehicle,
or with a reckless disregard for the safety of human life; and

= Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully.*

- First, that the defendant damaged, disabled, destroyed, set fire to, tampered
with, or placed or caused to be placed any explosive or other destructive
substance in, upon, or in proximity to, any garage, terminal, structure, supply, or
facility used in the operation or, or in support of the operation of, motor vehicles
or otherwise made or caused such property to be made unworkable, unusable, or
hazardous to work or use;

- Second, that the motor vehicles were engaged in interstate or foreign commerce;

- Third, that the defendant did so with intent to endanger the safety of any person
on board or anyone who the defendant believed would board the motor vehicle,
or with a reckless disregard for the safety of human life; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully.”

3

First, that the defendant disabled or incapacitated any driver or person employed
in connection with the operation or maintenance of a motor vehicle, or in any
way lessened the ability of such person to perform his duties as such;

22 United States v. Kurka, 818 F.2d 1427, 1430 (9th Cir. 1987).

3.
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- Second, that the motor vehicle was used, operated, or employed in interstate or
foreign commerce, or its cargo or material used or intended to be used in
connection with its operation;

- Third, that the defendant did so with intent to endanger the safety of any person
on board or anyone who the defendant believed would board the motor vehicle,
or with a reckless disregard for the safety of human life; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully.*
AGGRAVATED PENALTY

1. Was the motor vehicle, at the time the violation occurred, carrying high-level
radioactive waste or spent nuclear fuel [as defined in 42 U.S.C. 10101(12) and
(23)1?

NOTE

The statute has its own attempt and conspiracy provision in paragraph 4.

18 U.S.C. 35(b) CONVEYING FALSE INFORMATION (BOMB HOAX ACT)

Title 18, United States Code, Section 35(b) makes it a crime to convey false
information concerning the destruction of aircraft, trains, or vessels. For you to find the
defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable
doubt:

- First, that the defendant imparted, conveyed, or caused to be imparted or
conveyed false information;
- Second, that the defendant knew the information was false;

- Third, that the information concerned an attempt being made or to be made to
do an act which would violate [18 U.S.C. 32-40 (concerning aircraft)] [18
U.S.C. 1991-1992 (concerning railroads)] or [18 U.S.C. 2271-2285 (concerning
vessels and shipping)];* and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully and maliciously, or with reckless
disregard for the safety of human life.*®

X,
25 The court should instruct on the elements of the appropriate predicate offense.

26 See United States v. White, 475 F.2d 1228, 1230 (4th Cir. 1973).
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& The court should instruct on the elements of the appropriate
predicate offense.

Willfully means deliberately and intentionally, as contrasted with being made
accidentally, carelessly or unintentionally.?’

To act maliciously means to do something with an evil purpose or motive.?®

18 U.S.C. 36 DRIVE-BY SHOOTING

Title 18, United States Code, Section 36 makes it a crime to shoot into a group of
people in furtherance of a major drug offense. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

36(b)(1)
- First, that the defendant fired a weapon into a group of two or more persons;

- Second, that the defendant fired the weapon in furtherance of, or to escape
detection of, a major drug offense;

- Third, that the defendant fired the weapon with intent to intimidate, harass,
injure, or maim; and

- Fourth, that, in the course of firing the weapon, the defendant caused grave risk
to human life.”’

36(b)(2)(A)
- First, that the defendant fired a weapon into a group of two or more persons;

- Second, that the defendant fired the weapon in furtherance of, or to escape
detection of, a major drug offense;

- Third, that the defendant fired the weapon with intent to intimidate, harass,
injure, or maim;

- Fourth, that, in the course of firing the weapon, the defendant unlawfully killed
another human being with malice aforethought; and

27 United States v. Hassouneh, 199 F.3d 175, 183 (4th Cir. 2000).

28 “We note that Hassouneh’s proposed instruction, which incorporated an evil purpose or
motive component, more accurately reflects the proper legal standard necessary to convict a person
of acting maliciously under 35(b). We also note that other instructions may be equally capable of
properly directing the jury on the meaning of maliciously under the Act. /d. at 182.

2 See United States v. Wallace, 447 F.3d 184, 187 (2d Cir. 2006).
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- Fifth, that the killing was willful, deliberate, malicious, and premeditated.*’
36(b)(2)(B)
- First, that the defendant fired a weapon into a group of two or more persons;

- Second, that the defendant fired the weapon in furtherance of, or to escape
detection of, a major drug offense;

- Third, that the defendant fired the weapon with intent to intimidate, harass,
injure, or maim; and

- Fourth, that, in the course of firing the weapon, the defendant unlawfully killed
another human being with malice aforethought.?’!

A major drug offense means one of the following: [ 36(a)]

1.  acontinuing criminal enterprise, [the court should instruct on the elements
of 21 U.S.C. 848];

2. aconspiracy to distribute controlled substances [the court should instruct
on the elements of 21 U.S.C. 846]; or

3. distribution of major quantities of drugs, or possession of major quantities
of drugs with intent to distribute [the court should instruct on the elements
of 21 U.S.C. 841].

18 U.S.C. 81 ARSON

Title 18, United States Code, Section 81 makes it a crime to set fire to or burn any
building, structure or vessel, any machinery or building materials or supplies, military or
naval stores, munitions of war, or any structural aids or appliances for navigation or
shipping, within the special territorial jurisdiction of the United States. For you to find the
defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable
doubt:

- First, that the defendant set fire to or burned (or attempted to or conspired to set
fire to or burn) a building, structure, vessel, machinery, building materials or
supplies, military or naval stores, munitions of war, structural aids or appliances
for navigation or shipping;*

30 See jury instruction for 18 U.S.C. 1111.
31 See jury instruction for 18 U.S.C. 1111.

32 See United States v. Auginash, 266 F.3d 781, 785 (8th Cir. 2001) (concluding that the
ordinary meaning of 81 includes the burning of an automobile.).
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- Second, that the building, structure, vessel, machinery, building materials or
supplies, military or naval stores, munitions of war, structural aids or appliances
for navigation or shipping, was/were within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States; and

- Third, that the defendant did so willfully and maliciously.”
AGGRAVATED PENALTY

1. Was the building a dwelling?

2. Was the life of any person placed in jeopardy?

Maliciously means acting intentionally or with willful disregard of the likelihood
that damage or injury will result.**

In other words, willfully and maliciously can be proved by evidence that the
defendant set the fire intentionally and without justification or lawful excuse.*

Special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States includes lands
reserved or acquired for the use of the United States, and under the exclusive or
concurrent jurisdiction of the United States, or any place purchased or otherwise acquired
by the United States by consent of the legislature of the State in which the land is
situated, for the building of a fort, arsenal, dock, or other needed building.*®

33 United States v. Prentiss, 273 F.3d 1277, 1279 (10th Cir. 2001).
34 See United States v. Gullett, 75 F.3d 941, 947 (4th Cir. 1996) ( 844(i) prosecution).

35 United States v. Doe, 136 F.3d 631, 635 (9th Cir. 1998) (At common law ... arson did
not require proof of an intent to burn down a building, or of knowledge this would be the probable
consequence of the defendant’s act.). See discussion of Gullet under NOTE.

36 See 18 U.S.C. 7 (listing other definitions). In United States v. Passaro, 577 F.3d 207 (4th
Cir. 2009), the Fourth Circuit construed 7(9) as reaching only fixed locations. An inexhaustive list
of factors relevant in determining whether a particular location qualifies as the premises of a United
States mission include the size of a given military mission’s premises, the length of United States
control over those premises, the substantiality of its improvements, actual use of the premises, the
occupation of the premises by a significant number of United States personnel, and the host nation’s
consent (whether formal or informal) to the presence of the United States. 577 F.3d at 214. In
Passaro, the court found that Asadabad Firebase in Afghanistan came within the statutory definition,
such that Passaro, a civilian contractor, could be prosecuted for assaulting a prisoner, in violation of
18 U.S.C. 113.
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NOTE

For cases discussing special jurisdiction, especially pertaining to Fort Jackson, see
the following: United States v. Lavender, 602 F.2d 639 (4th Cir. 1979); United States v.
Lovely, 319 F.2d 673 (4th Cir. 1963); United States v. Benson, 495 F.2d 475 (5th Cir.
1974); and State v. Zeigler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182 (S.C. 1979), overruled on other
grounds by Joseph v. State, 351 S.C. 551, 571 S.E.2d 280 (S.C. 2002).

In United States v. Gullett, 75 F.3d 941 (4th Cir. 1996), an explosion occurred in the
parking lot of a machine shop, but damaged nearby rental property. The appellant
stipulated that the rental property was used in activity affecting interstate commerce, but
argued that he did not maliciously intend to damage the rental property. The Fourth
Circuit approved the following charge:

A defendant may not be excused from responsibility for the harmful
consequences of his actions simply because that harm was not precisely the
harm in which he intended. That is, if the only difference between what a
defendant intended to flow from his action and what actually occurred as a
result of his action is that some property was damaged other than that which
the defendant intended, the defendant, under the law, may still be held
responsible to the same extent that he would have been responsible had the
intended harm resulted, so long as the actual result is similar to and not remote
from the intended result. Of course, the defendant must have acted maliciously
and with specific intent, and the government must prove all of the essential
elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt in order for you to find the
defendant guilty.

75 F.3d at 948. The court stated this was a correct statement of the law’s Gullett may be
legally responsible for his actions even though some property was damaged other than
that which the defendant intended. /d.

18 US.C. 111  ASSAULTING FEDERAL OFFICERY

37 See United States v. Briley, 770 F.3d 267, 273 (4th Cir. 2014) (“In essence, 111
proscribes five types of offenses: a misdemeanor (constituting only simple assault), two less serious
felonies (involving either physical contact or felonious intent), and two more serious felonies
(involving either a weapon or bodily injury). Notably, in defining the penalties for the various
offenses, each statutory provision refers back to the original list of violative acts against current or
former officials. 18 U.S.C. 111(a) (the acts in violation of this section); id. (such acts); id. 111(b)
(any acts described in subsection (a)).).
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Title 18, United States Code, Section 111 makes it a crime to assault certain federal
officers or employees. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove
each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

111(a)(1) or (2) [misdemeanor]

- First, that the defendant [assaulted, resisted, opposed, impeded, intimidated, or
interfered with an officer or employee of the United States as designated in
1114] [assaulted or intimidated a person who formerly served as an officer or
employee of the United States as designated in 1114];

Second, that the defendant did so forcibly;™

- Third, that the defendant did so [while the employee was engaged in or on
account of the performance of official duties] [on account of the performance of
official duties during that person’s term of service]; and

- Fourth, that the defendant acted intentionally.*’

To be guilty under this section, the government must prove that the defendant
committed a simple assault, or an assault not involving physical contact.*’ Simple assault
is an assault involving an attempt to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily injury
by physical menace.*!

An assault is committed by either a willful attempt to inflict injury upon the person
of another, or by a threat to inflict injury upon the person of another which, when coupled
with an apparent present ability, causes a reasonable apprehension of immediate bodily
harm.*

However, the government must prove some use of force.*

The government need not prove that the defendant knew that the victim was a
federal employee.**

38 The verb “forcibly modifies each of the verbs it precedes, not only assault. Long v. United
States, 199 F.2d 717, 719 (4th Cir. 1952). The D.C. Circuit approved the following two-sentence
pattern instruction in United States v. Arrington, 309 F.3d 40, 47 n.13 (D.C. Cir. 2002): all of the
acts assault, resist, oppose, impede, intimidate and interfere with are modified by the word forcibly.
Thus, before you can find the defendant guilty you must find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he
acted forcibly.

39 See United States v. Cooper, 289 F. Appx 627, 629 (4th Cir. 2008) (citing Arrington,
309 F.3d at 44).

40 United States v. Campbell, 259 F.3d 293, 296 (4th Cir. 2001).
41 Id. (citing United States v. Duran, 96 F.3d 1495, 1511 (D.C. Cir. 1996)).
4 United States v. Dupree, 544 F.2d 1050, 1051 (9th Cir. 1976) (citation omitted).

43 Congress “has prescribed the use of force as an essential element of the crime. Long, 199
F.2d at 717.

4 United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 676 n.9 (1975) (finding theexistence of the fact
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111(a)(1) or (2) [felony]
- First, that the defendant [assaulted, resisted, opposed, impeded, intimidated, or
interfered with an officer or employee of the United States as designated in 1114

[assaulted or intimidated a person who formerly served as an officer or
employee of the United States as designated in 1114];

- Second, that the defendant did so forcibly;*
- Third, that the defendant did so [while the employee was engaged in or on

account of the performance of official duties] [on account of the performance of
official duties during that person’s term of service];

- Fourth, that the act involved physical contact with the victim of the assault or
the intent to commit another felony [here, the court must identify the elements
of this other felony]*; and

- Fifth, that the defendant acted intentionally.*’
The government must prove some use of force.*
111(b)* [aggravated felony]

- First, that the defendant [assaulted, resisted, opposed, impeded, intimidated, or
interfered with an officer or employee of the United States as designated in
1114] [assaulted or intimidated a person who formerly served as an officer or
employee of the United States];

- Second, that the defendant did so forcibly;50

that confers federal jurisdiction need not be one in the mind of the actor at the time he perpetrates
the act made criminal by the federal statute.). See also United States v. Wallace, 368 F.2d 537 (4th
Cir. 1966) (same).

4 The verb forcibly modifies each of the verbs it precedes, not only assault. United States
v. Long, 199 F.2d 717, 719 (4th Cir. 1952). The D.C. Circuit approved the following two-sentence
pattern instruction in United States v. Arrington, 309 F.3d 40, 47 n.13 (D.C. Cir. 2002): All of the
acts assault, resist, oppose, impede, intimidate and interfere with are modified by the word forcibly.
Thus, before you can find the defendant guilty you must find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he
acted forcibly.

4 United States v. Thomas, 669 F.3d 421, 425 (4th Cir. 2012) (government conceded plain
error in indictment’s failure to allege intent to commit another felony).

47 See United States v. Cooper,289 F. Appx 627, 629 (4th Cir. 2008) (citing Arrington, 309
F.3d at 44).

48 Congress “has prescribed the use of force as an essential element of the crime. Long, 199
F.2d at 719.

4 Section 111(b) is a separate offense from 111(a) and use of a dangerous or deadly
weapon or inflicting bodily injury are offense elements. United States v. Campbell, 259 F.3d 293,
298 (4th Cir. 2001).

30 The verb forcibly modifies each of the verbs it precedes, not only assault. United States
v. Long, 199 F.2d 717, 719 (4th Cir. 1952). The D.C. Circuit approved the following two-sentence
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- Third, that the defendant did so while the employee was engaged in or on
account of the performance of official duties, and

- Fourth, that the defendant [used a deadly or dangerous weapon] [inflicted bodily
injury]’'; and

- Fifth, that the defendant did so intentionally.>

The government must prove some use of force.>®

The government need not prove that the defendant knew that the victim was a
federal employee.**

What constitutes a dangerous weapon depends not on the object’s intrinsic character
but on its capacity, given the manner of its use, to endanger life or inflict serious physical
harm. Almost any weapon, as used or attempted to be used, may endanger life or inflict
bodily harm; as such, in appropriate circumstances, it may be a dangerous and deadly
weapon. Thus, an object need not be inherently dangerous to be a dangerous weapon.
Rather, innocuous objects or instruments may become capable of inflicting serious injury
when put to assaultive use.>

Deadly or dangerous weapon includes a weapon intended to cause death or danger
but that fails to do so by reason of a defective component. [111(b)]

pattern instruction in Arrington, 309 F.3d at 47 n.13: All of the acts assault, resist, oppose, impede,
intimidate and interfere with are modified by the word forcibly. Thus, before you can find the
defendant guilty you must find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he acted forcibly.

31 See Thomas, 669 F.3d at 425 (Government conceded plain error in indictment’s failure
to allege infliction of bodily injury).

52 See Cooper, 289 F. Appx at 629 (citing United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 686 (1975)).

33 Congress “has prescribed the use of force as an essential element of the crime. Long, 199
F.2d at 719.

34 United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 676 n.9 (1975) (finding the existence of the fact
that confers federal jurisdiction need not be one in the mind of the actor at the time he perpetrates
the act made criminal by the federal statute.). See also United States v. Wallace, 368 F.2d 537 (4th
Cir. 1966) (same).

35 In United States v. Sturgis, 48 F.3d 784, 787 (4th Cir. 1995), an inmate who was HIV
positive bit two correctional officers. The Fourth Circuit surveyed dangerous weapon cases, and
concluded that the “test of whether a particular object was used as a dangerous weapon ... must be
left to the jury to determine whether, under the circumstances of each case, the defendant used some
instrumentality, object, or (in some instances) a part of his body to cause death or serious injury. /d.
at 788 (citations omitted).
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Bodily injury means a cut, abrasion, bruise, burn, or disfigurement; physical pain;
illness; impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or mental faculty; or any
other injury to the body, no matter how temporary.>

NOTE

In United States v. Briley, 770 F.3d 267, 274 (4th Cir. 2014), the Fourth Circuit held
that 111 prohibits the six different kinds of enumerated acts [“forcibly assaults, resists,
opposes, impedes, intimidates, or interferes with ....] and [ | specifically, the
misdemeanor provision is not limited to assault. But see United States v. Davis, 690 F.3d
127, 135 (2d Cir. 2012) ([F]or a defendant to be guilty of the misdemeanor of resisting
arrest under Section 111(a), he necessarily must have committed common law simple
assault.).

One episode of interference with federal officers is a single offense, regardless of
the number of injuries. In Ladner v. United States, 358 U.S. 169 (1958), the defendant
injured two federal officers with the single discharge of a shotgun, and the Supreme
Court held it constituted a single assault. 358 U.S. at 178. See also United States v.
Thomas, 669 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2012) (defendant committed multiple acts, both verbally
threatening and later punching the officer following significant intervening acts); United
States v. Alverez, 445 F. Appx 715 (4th Cir. 2011) (defendant could only be convicted of
one instance of assault under 111(b) when he ran his vehicle into one car containing two
DEA agents).

However, an indictment may allege separate assaults [ | when the Government
demonstrates that the actions and intent of [the] defendant constitute distinct successive
criminal episodes, rather than two phases of a single assault. Thomas, 669 F.3d at 426
(citation omitted). See also Briley, 770 F.3d at 270 (defendant charged with three counts
of assault where three officers involved in attempt to arrest defendant).

The dangerous weapon language of 111(b) is the same language used in 18 U.S.C.
2113(d). Accordingly, cases interpreting armed bank robbery apply to this statute. United
States v. Hamrick, 43 F.3d 877, 881 (4th Cir. 1995) (en banc). Hamrick was prosecuted
for mailing a bomb which did not detonate to the United States Attorney for the Northern
District of West Virginia. The Fourth Circuit held that a dysfunctional or inoperable
bomb could be considered by the jury to constitute a dangerous weapon under this
section. Id. at 884.

In United States v. Arrington, 309 F.3d 40, 45 (D.C. Cir. 2002), the government
conceded that when an object is not inherently deadly, the following additional elements
are required: the object must be capable of causing serious bodily injury or death to
another person and the defendant must use it in that manner.

In United States v. Gore, 592 F.3d 489 (4th Cir. 2010), the Fourth Circuit held that a
prisoner charged with a violation of 18 U.S.C. 111 must, to succeed on the affirmative
defense of self-defense, demonstrate that he responded to an unlawful and present threat

%6 See 18 U.S.C. § 831(f)(5), 1365(g)(4), 1515(a)(5), 1864(d)(2) (statutory definitions). See
also United States v. Perkins, 470 F.3d 150, 161 (4th Cir. 2006) (“physical pain alone or any injury
to the body, no matter how fleeting, suffices to establish bodily injury.) (18 U.S.C. 242 prosecution).
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of death or serious bodily injury. 592 F.3d at 495. In that case, the district court instructed
the jury that the defendant could rely on justification based on self-defense only when he
was under an unlawful present or imminent threat of serious bodily injury or death. /d. at
490 (quotation omitted). The district court elaborated as follows:

A present or imminent threat of serious bodily injury or death must be based on
a reasonable fear that a real and specific threat existed at the time of the
defendant’s assault, resistance, opposition, or impediment. This is an objective
test that does not depend on the defendant’s perception. If the defendant
unlawfully assaulted, resisted, or impeded a correctional officer when no
reasonable fear of a present or imminent threat of serious bodily injury or death
actually existed, his self-defense justification must fail.

Id. at 490.

In United States v. Stotts, 113 F.3d 493 (4th Cir. 1997), the defendant was
prosecuted under D.C. Code 22-505, which punishes assaults on correctional officers
without justifiable and excusable cause. The Fourth Circuit held that a defendant
generally cannot invoke self-defense to justify an assault on a police or correctional
officer, and therefore a standard self-defense instruction would not apply. However, a
defendant has a limited right of self-defense if the defendant presents evidence that the
officer used excessive force in carrying out his official duties. A defendant who responds
to an officer’s use of excessive force with force reasonably necessary for self-protection
under the circumstances has acted with justifiable and excusable cause and therefore does
not violate 22-505. 113 F.3d at 496. The court added that the jury must be instructed that
the government bears the burden of disproving the defendant’s limited claim of self-
defense or justification beyond a reasonable doubt. /d.

18 U.S.C. 113 ASSAULTS WITHIN SPECIAL TERRITORIAL
JURISDICTION

Title 18, United States Code, Section 113 makes it a crime to commit certain
assaults within the special territorial jurisdiction of the United States. For you to find the
defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable
doubt:

113(a)(1)
- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim;

- Second, that the defendant did so with intent to commit murder®’ or sexual
abuse [in violation of either Section 2241 or 2242]; and

- Third, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

57 In United States v. Perez, 43 F.3d 1131, 1138 (7th Cir. 1994), the Seventh Circuit held
that 113(a) requires a specific intent to commit murder, and the usual malice aforethought instruction
which includes conduct which is reckless and wanton without intending to kill is not sufficient. See
Braxton v. United States, 500 U.S. 344, 351 n.1 (1991); United States v. Bird, 409 F. Appx 681 (4th
Cir. 2011) (citing Perez, 43 F.3d at 1137). In Bird, the defendant argued unsuccessfully that
attempted murder is a lesser-included offense of assault with intent to commit murder.
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113(a)(2)
- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim;

- Second, that the defendant did so with intent to commit [a felony other than
murder or criminal sexual conduct specify elements of felony charged in
indictment]; and

- Third, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

113(a)(3)

- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim;

- Second, that the defendant did so with a dangerous weapon;

- Third, that the defendant did so with intent to do bodily harm;’® and

- Fourth, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

Assault by striking and simple assault are lesser included offenses of
assault with a dangerous weapon, and the jury should be charged if that is
an issue.

What constitutes a dangerous weapon depends not on the object’s intrinsic character
but on its capacity, given the manner of its use, to endanger life or inflict serious physical
harm. Almost any weapon, as used or attempted to be used, may endanger life or inflict
bodily harm; as such, in appropriate circumstances, it may be a dangerous and deadly
weapon. Thus, an object need not be inherently dangerous to be a dangerous weapon.
Rather, innocuous objects or instruments may become capable of inflicting serious injury
when put to assaultive use.”’

The intent of the defendant is not to be measured by his secret motive, or some
undisclosed purpose merely to frighten, not to hurt, but rather it is to be judged
objectively from the visible conduct of the defendant and what a person in the position of
the victim might reasonably conclude.®

58 United States v. Jackson, No. 99-4388, 2000 WL 194284 (4th Cir. Feb. 18, 2000)
(quoting United States v. Guilbert, 692 F.2d 1340, 1343 (11th Cir. 1982)) (theexistence of just cause
or excuse for the assault is an affirmative defense, and the government does not have the burden of
pleading or proving its absence.).

3 In United States v. Sturgis, 48 F.3d 784 (4th Cir. 1995), an inmate who was HIV positive
bit two correctional officers. The Fourth Circuit surveyed dangerous weapon cases, and concluded
that “test of whether a particular object was used as a dangerous weapon ... must be left to the jury
to determine whether, under the circumstances of each case, the defendant used some
instrumentality, object, or (in some instances) a part of his body to cause death or serious injury. /d.
at 788 (citations omitted).

0 United States v. Guilbert, 692 F.2d at 1344.
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113(a)(4)""

- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim by striking, beating, or wounding
the victim; and

- Second, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

113(a)(5)(“simple assault)®
- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim; and

- Second, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

AGGRAVATED PENALTY for 113(a)(5):
Was the victim of the assault an individual who had not attained the age of 16 years?
113(a)(6)*
- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim;
- Second, that the assault resulted in serious bodily injury;** and

- Third, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

113(a)(7)

- First, that the defendant assaulted the victim, who had not attained the age of 16
years;

- Second, that the assault resulted in substantial bodily injury;*® and

- Third, that the assault occurred within the special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States.

An assault is committed by either a willful attempt to inflict injury upon the person
of another, or by a threat to inflict injury upon the person of another which, when coupled

%1 This section is simple battery since it contemplates some form of contact. United States
v. Juvenile Male, 930 F.2d 727, 728 (9th Cir. 1991). Intent to cause injury is not an element of
113(a)(4). United States v. Martin, 536 F.2d 535, 535 (2d Cir. 1976).

62 TA] specific kind of intent is not inherent in the statutory definition of [ 113(a)(5)] ....
United States v. Bayes, 210 F.3d 64, 68 (1st Cir. 2000).

63 Section 113(a)(6) is a general intent crime. United States v. Lewis, 780 F.2d 1140, 1143
(4th Cir. 1986).

% United States v. Campbell, 259 F.3d 293, 300 (4th Cir. 2001).

% See id.
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with an apparent present ability, causes a reasonable apprehension of immediate bodily
harm.®

Battery is defined as inflicting injury upon the person of another.®’

Battery may also be defined as the slightest willful offensive touching of another,
regardless of whether the defendant had an intent to do physical harm.®

In the case of an attempted battery, the victim need not have experienced reasonable
apprehension of immediate bodily harm.®

Attempt requires two elements:
- First, that the defendant intended to commit a battery; and

- Second, that the defendant committed an act which constituted a substantial step
toward the commission of the battery.”

A substantial step is more than mere preparation, yet may be less than the last act
necessary before the actual commission of the battery.”"

The government need not prove that the defendant intended to injure the victim. The
government need only prove that the defendant was criminally negligent or reckless.”

If the defendant intended to assault another person with intent to do bodily harm, but
he harms a third person whom he did not intend to harm, the law considers the defendant
just as guilty as if he had actually harmed the intended victim.”

“Special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States includes lands
reserved or acquired for the use of the United States, and under the exclusive or
concurrent jurisdiction of the United States, or any place purchased or otherwise acquired

6 United States v. Dupree, 544 F.2d 1050, 1051 (9th Cir. 1976) (citation omitted).

7 See United States v. Juvenile Male, 930 F.2d 727, 728 (9th Cir. 1991), for a full definition
of common law assault.

8 United States v. Williams, 197 F.3d 1091, 1096 (11th Cir. 1999) (“Intention to do bodily
harm is not a necessary element of battery.).

9 United States v. Guilbert, 692 F.2d 1340, 1343 (11th Cir. 1982).

0 See United States v. Pratt, 351 F.3d 131, 135 (4th Cir. 2003).

" United States v. Sutton, 961 F.2d 476, 478 (4th Cir. 1992). “But if preparation comes so
near to the accomplishment of the crime that it becomes probable that the crime will be committed
absent an outside intervening circumstance, the preparation may become an attempt.Pratt, 351 F.3d

at 136.

2 United States v. Juvenile Male, 930 F.2d 727, 728-29 (9th Cir. 1991) (“ battery need not
be intentional to constitute a violation of [ 113(a)(6)].).

73 Instruction on transferred intent approved in United States v. Montoya, 739 F.2d 1437
(9th Cir. 1984).
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by the United States by consent of the legislature of the State in which the land is
situated, for the building of a fort, arsenal, dock, or other needed building.74

Substantial bodily injury means bodily injury which involves a temporary but
substantial disfigurement or a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the
function of any bodily member, organ, or mental faculty. [113(b)(1)]

Serious bodily injury means bodily injury which involves substantial risk of death,
extreme physical pain, protracted and obvious disfigurement, or protracted loss or
impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or mental faculty. [113(b)(2)
which adopts the definition in 18 U.S.C.1365(h)(3)]

NOTE

See United States v. Sturgis, 48 F.3d 784, 786 (4th Cir. 1995).

“Force and violence is the traditional language of assault. Simpson v. United States,
435 U.S. 6, 13 (1978).

For cases discussing special jurisdiction, especially pertaining to Fort Jackson, see
the following: United States v. Lavender, 602 F.2d 639 (4th Cir. 1979); United States v.
Lovely, 319 F.2d 673 (4th Cir. 1963); United States v. Benson, 495 F.2d 475 (5th Cir.
1974); and State v. Zeigler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182 (S.C. 1979), overruled on other
grounds by Joseph v. State, 351 S.C. 551, 571 S.E.2d 280 (S.C. 2002).

Section 113(a)(6), is a general intent crime; therefore, voluntary intoxication is not a
defense. United States v. Lewis, 780 F.2d 1140, 1143 (4th Cir. 1986).

See also United States v. Fay, 668 F.2d 375 (8th Cir. 1981), where the Eighth
Circuit said that intoxication would be a defense to assault with a deadly weapon which
includes the element of specific intent to do bodily harm. However, assault resulting in
serious bodily injury and assault by striking do not require more than general intent, and
therefore the trial court’s failure to give an intoxication instruction [did] not affect
defendant’s convictions on these counts. 668 F.2d at 377.

Assault had two meanings at common law, the first being an attempt to commit a
battery and the second [being] an act putting another in reasonable apprehension of
bodily harm. A battery, in turn, did not require proof that the defendant intended to injure
another or to threaten [the person] with harm. The slightest willful offensive touching of
another constitute[d] a battery ... regardless of whether the defendant harbor[ed] an intent
to do physical harm. United States v. Bayes, 210 F.3d 64, 68 (1st Cir. 2000) (internal
citation and quotation marks omitted).

74 See 18 U.S.C. 7 (listing other definitions). In United States v. Passaro, 577 F.3d 207 (4th
Cir. 2009), the Fourth Circuit construed 7(9) as reaching only fixed locations. An inexhaustive list
of factors relevant in determining whether a particular location qualifies as the premises of a United
States mission include thesize of a given military mission’s premises, the length of United States
control over those premises, the substantiality of its improvements, actual use of the premises, the
occupation of the premises by a significant number of United States personnel, and the host nation’s
consent (whether formal or informal) to the presence of the United States. 577 F.3d at 214. In
Passaro, the court found that Asadabad Firebase in Afghanistan came within the statutory definition,
such that Passaro, a civilian contractor, could be prosecuted for assaulting a prisoner, in violation of
18 U.S.C. 113.
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Unit of Prosecution

In United States v. Chipps, 410 F.3d 438 (8th Cir. 2005), the Eighth Circuit
concluded that Congress had not specified the unit of prosecution for simple assault with
clarity. Applying the rule of lenity, the Eighth Circuit interpreted assault to be a course-
of-conduct offense. To determine how many courses of conduct the defendant undertook,
the Eighth Circuit applied the so-called “impulse test. Under that test, all violations that
arise from that singleness of thought, purpose of action, which may be deemed a single
impulse are treated as one offense. 410 F.3d at 449. The defendant was charged with two
counts of assault with dangerous weapons, shod feet and a baseball bat. The jury
convicted Chipps of the lesser included offense of simple assault, 113(a)(5), on each
count. The Eighth Circuit directed the district court to vacate the second conviction,
[g]iven the uninterrupted nature of the attack .... /d.

Lesser-Included Offenses

Assault by striking and simple assault are lesser-included offenses of assault with a
dangerous weapon, and the jury should be charged if that is an issue. See United States v.
Agofsky, 411 F.2d 1013 (4th Cir. 1969) (noting that assault by striking, beating, or
wounding under 18 U.S.C. 113(d) [now 113(a)(4)] and simple assault under 113(e) [now
113(a)(5)] are lesser included offenses of assault with a dangerous weapon under 113(c)
[now 113(a)(3)]. Simple assault is defined as the form of assault involving an attempt to
put another in fear of imminent serious bodily injury by physical menace. See United
States v. Campbell, 259 F.3d 293, 296 n.3 (4th Cir. 2001) (citing United States v. Duran,
96 F.3d 1495, 1511 (D.C. Cir. 1996)). But see United States v. Duran, 127 F.3d 911, 915
(10th Cir. 1997) (the offense of striking, beating or wounding is simply not a lesser
included offense of assault with a dangerous weapon). Assault by striking requires
physical touching whereas assault with a weapon does not. /d.

Offensive Touching

At common law, battery included the slightest willful offensive touching of another,
regardless of whether the defendant had an intent to do physical harm. United States v.
Williams, 197 F.3d 1091, 1096 (11th Cir. 1999). However, because 113(a)(4) speaks in
terms of striking, beating, or wounding, offensive touching cases are usually resolved as
violations of 113(a)(5), simple assault. In United States v. Bayes, 210 F.3d 64, 69 (1st
Cir. 2000), the First Circuit found that in a prosecution for simple assault under
113(a)(5), it is sufficient to show that the defendant deliberately touched another in a
patently offensive manner without justification or excuse[ | where the defendant had
rubbed and grabbed the buttocks of a flight attendant. See also United States v.
Whitefeather, 275 F.3d 741 (8th Cir. 2002) (defendant urinated on victim).

18 U.S.C. 115 RETALIATING AGAINST A FEDERAL OFFICIAL
115(a)(1)(A)
Title 18, United States Code, Section 115(a)(1)(A) makes it a crime to assault,
kidnap, or murder, or threaten to assault, kidnap, or murder a United States official,
judge, law enforcement officer [or other official designated in 1114]. For you to find the

defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable
doubt:
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- First, that the defendant assaulted, kidnapped, or murdered, or attempted or
conspired to kidnap or murder, or threatened to assault, kidnap, or murder a
member of the immediate family of [the victim designated]; and

- Second, that the defendant did so with intent to impede, intimidate, or interfere
with such official while the official was engaged in the performance of official
duties, or with intent to retaliate against such official on account of the
performance of official duties.

115(a)(1)(B)
Title 18, United States Code, Section 115(a)(1)(B) makes it a crime to threaten to
assault, kidnap, or murder a United States official, judge, law enforcement officer [or

other official designated in 1114]. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government
must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that the defendant threatened to assault, kidnap or murder [the victim
designated]; and

- Second, that the defendant did so with intent to impede, intimidate, or interfere
with such official while the official was engaged in the performance of official
duties, or with intent to retaliate against such official on account of the
performance of official duties.

115(a)(2)

Title 18, United States Code, Section 115(a)(2) makes it a crime to threaten to
assault, kidnap, or murder a former United States official, judge, law enforcement officer
[or other official designated in 1114], or a member of the immediate family of such
person. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that the defendant assaulted, kidnapped or murdered, or attempted or
conspired to kidnap or murder, or threatened to assault, kidnap, or murder [the
victim designated]; and

- Second, that the defendant did so with intent to retaliate against such official on
account of the performance of official duties during the term of service of such
person.

The threat must be a true threat and not merely uttered as a part of a political protest
or an idle gesture.”

The test is whether an ordinary reasonable recipient who is familiar with the context
of the threat would interpret it as a threat of injury. There is no requirement that the actual
recipient testify.”®

The government is not required to prove that the person who made the threat was
capable of carrying out the threat.”’

5 United States v. Roberts, 915 F.2d 889, 890 (4th Cir. 1990).
76 Id. at 891.

77 United States v. Armel, 585 F.3d 182, 185 (4th Cir. 2009).
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NOTE

A threatening statement must amount to a true threat rather than mere political
hyperbole or idle chatter. Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 708 (1969). In Watts, the
Supreme Court identified four factors in determining that the statement was not a true
threat. The Court noted that the communication was: (1) made in jest; (2) to a public
audience; (3) in political opposition to the President; and (4) conditioned upon an event
the speaker himself vowed would never happen. Id. at 707-08.

In United States v. Armel, 585 F.3d 182 (4th Cir. 2009), the Fourth Circuit refused
to add a particularized victim element to 115. The Supreme Court has explained that true
threats encompass statements directed at a particular individual or group of individuals.
585 F.3d at 185 (quoting Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 359 (2003)).

18 U.S.C. 152 BANKRUPTCY FRAUD

Title 18, United States Code, Section 152 makes it a crime to commit certain
offenses in bankruptcy proceedings. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government
must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

152(1) Concealing Property Belonging to a Debtor

- First, that there existed a proceeding in bankruptcy on or about the date alleged
in the indictment;

- Second, that the defendant concealed” property belonging to the estate of a
debtor;

- Third, that the defendant concealed the property from a custodian, trustee,
marshal, or other officer of the bankruptcy court charged with the control or
custody of the property, or from creditors or the United States Trustee; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so knowingly and fraudulently.”

The property need not be physically concealed. Concealment can be accomplished
by withholding knowledge or preventing disclosure about the property.*

152(3) False Statement under Penalty of Perjury

- First, that a proceeding in bankruptcy existed on or about the date alleged in the
indictment;

8 See United States v. Atkins, No. 97-4864, 1999 WL 397711 (4th Cir. June 17, 1999),
where the Fourth Circuit found substantial evidence that Atkins attempted to conceal his
misappropriation of funds from the bankruptcy court. Atkins secretly took funds out of an escrow
account, then created false documents to conceal the transfer. The court approvingly cited United
States v. Weinstein, 834 F.2d 1454 (9th Cir. 1987) (sufficient if one withholds knowledge of assets
about which trustee should be told), and United States v. Turner, 725 F.2d 1154 (8th Cir. 1984) (sale
not recorded in corporation’s books constituted concealment).

7 See United States v. Guiliano, 644 F.2d 85, 87 (2d Cir. 1981).

80 United States v. Porter, 842 F.2d 1021, 1024 (8th Cir. 1988).
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- Second, that the defendant made or caused to be made a false declaration,
certificate, verification, or statement in that bankruptcy proceeding or in relation
to it;

- Third, that the statement or declaration related to a material matter;

- Fourth, that the declaration or statement was made under penalty of perjury; and

- Fifth, the defendant did so knowingly and fraudulently, that is, the defendant
knew the statement was false and acted with intent to defraud.®!

A statement is fraudulent if known to be untrue and made with intent to deceive.®

A statement (or claim) is material if it has a natural tendency to influence, or is
capable of influencing, the decision of the body to which it was addressed. It is irrelevant
whether the false statement (or claim) actually influenced or affected the decision-making
process. The capacity to influence must be measured at the point in time that the
statement (or claim) was made.*

Materiality does not require harm to or adverse reliance by a creditor, nor does it
require a realization of a gain by the defendant. Rather, it requires that the false oath or
account relate to some significant aspect of the bankruptcy case or proceeding in which it
was given, or that it pertain to the discovery of assets or to the debtor’s financial
transactions. Materiality does not require proof of the potential impact on the disposition
of assets.®

The government does not have to prove that a loss was suffered as a result of a false
statement made in the course of the bankruptcy proceeding.

152(4) Presenting a False Claim

- First, that a proceeding in bankruptcy existed on or about the date alleged in the
indictment;

- Second, that the defendant presented a proof of claim against the estate of a
debtor;

- Third, that the claim was false as to a material matter; and

81 Compare United States v. Pritt, No. 99-4581, 2000 WL 1699833 (4th Cir. Nov. 14,
2000), with United States v. Gellene, 182 F.3d 578, 586 n.12 (7th Cir. 1999). See also United States
v. O’Connor, 158 F. Supp. 2d 697, 727 (E.D. Va. 2001).

82 Gellene, 182 F.3d at 586, 587. Prosecutable false statements are not limited to those that
deprive the debtor of his property or the bankruptcy estate of its assets. Section 152 is designed to
protect the integrity of the administration of a bankruptcy case.

8 United States v. Sarihifard, 155 F.3d 301, 306 (4th Cir. 1998).

84 Gellene,182 F.3d at 588.

8 O’Connor, 158 F. Supp. 2d at 727.
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- Fourth, that the defendant knew the claim was false and acted knowingly and
fraudulently.®

A proof of claim filed in a bankruptcy proceeding is a legal document submitted to
the court by a creditor of the person or corporation who filed bankruptcy. In this
document the creditor is required to notify the court, the debtor, and all other creditors
that he is asserting some claim or right to payment from the estate of the debtor in
bankruptcy. This claim or right to payment can be asserted by a creditor whether or not
this right or claim is reduced to judgment, is liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent,
matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured. In
other words, the creditor can submit a claim whether or not he knows the exact amount,
whether it is right, or even if the claim is in dispute, as long as he submits the claim in
good faith.

A proof of claim is false if it is untrue when it is made and is known to be untrue by
the person making it. A proof of claim is false if the statements in it are intentionally
inaccurate and submitted without any good faith basis for the claim and are not the result
of some mistake or clerical error or inadvertent omission.”’

A statement is material if it has a natural tendency to influence, or is capable of
influencing, the decision-making body to which it was addressed. It is irrelevant whether
the false statement actually influenced or affected the decision-making process of the
agency or fact finding body. A false statement’s capacity to influence must be measured
at the point in time that the statement was made.®®

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Good faith is an absolute defense. A claim, even if false, made with a good faith
belief in its accuracy, does not amount to presenting a false claim in violation of this
statute. You must consider whether the claim was intentionally false and made with
fraudulent intent, or whether it was the result of an honest mistake or omission.*’

152(8) Concealing or Making False Entries Concerning the Property of a
Debtor

- First, that the defendant concealed, destroyed, mutilated, falsified, or made a
false entry in any recorded information relating to the property or financial
affairs of a debtor;

- Second, that the defendant did so after the filing of a case under Title 11 or in
contemplation of filing; and

- Third, that the defendant did so knowingly and fraudulently.

NOTE

8 United States v. Overmyer, 867 F.2d 937, 949 (6th Cir. 1989).
87 Id. at 950.
88 United States v. Sarihifard, 155 F.3d 301, 307 (4th Cir. 1998).

8 Overmyer, at 950-51.
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Statutory definitions relevant to bankruptcy proceedings may be found in 11 U.S.C.

101.

18 U.S.C. 201 BRIBERY OF OFFICIALS and ILLEGAL GRATUITIES”

Title 18, United States Code, Section 201 makes it a crime to give a bribe or an
illegal gratuity to a public official, or for a public official to accept a bribe or illegal
gratuity. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

201(b)(1) [defendant gave the bribe]|

First, that the defendant, directly or indirectly, gave, offered, or promised
anything of value to any public official [or offered or promised the public official

to give anything of value to any other person or entity]; °' and

Second, that the defendant did so corruptly with the intent to influence any official
act or to induce a public official to do or omit to do any act in violation of his
official duty [or to influence the public official to commit, aid, collude in or allow
any frat;gi, or make an opportunity for the commission of any fraud on the United
States].

201(b)(2) [defendant received the bribe]|

First, that the defendant was, at the time alleged in the indictment, a public
official,

Second, that the defendant, directly or indirectly, demanded, sought, received,
accepted, or agreed to receive or accept anything of value personally or for any
other person or entity; and

Third, that the defendant did so corruptly in return for being influenced in the
performance of any official act or being induced to do or omit to do any act in
violation of the official’s duty [or being influenced to commit, aid, collude in or
allow any fraud, or make an opportunity for the commission of any fraud on the
United States].”

% This statute also covers persons selected to be public officials, witnesses, and jurors.

Separate wording for these categories of individuals is not included. Additionally, 201(c)(1) covers
former public officials.

9V In United States v. Wechsler, 392 F.2d 344 (4" Cir. 1968), the partners in a real estate

group were convicted based on the deposit of a check in a bank.

92 See United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398, 404 (1999) (noting

elements of § 201(b)(1) and (b)(2)). See also Perrin v. United States, 444 U.S. 97 (1979) (definition
of “bribery is not limited to common law usage, but is more generic in meaning).

93 See United States v. Quinn, 359 F.3d 666, 673 (4th Cir. 2003) (listing elements).
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201(c)(1)(A) [defendant gave the gratuity]’

First, that the defendant, directly or indirectly, gave, offered, or promised to any
public official anything of value to which the public official was not lawfully
entitled; and

Second, that the thing of value was for or because of any official act performed
or to be performed by the public official.

201(c)(1)(B) [defendant received the gratuity]

First, that the defendant was, at the time alleged in the indictment, a public
official;

Second, that the defendant, directly or indirectly, demanded, sought, received,
accepted, or agreed to receive or accept anything of value personally to which the
defendant was not lawfully entitled; and

Third, that the thing of value was for or because of any official act performed or
to be performed by the defendant.”

The following instructions apply to illegal gratuities, 201(c):

The government must establish a link between the gratuity and a specific official

act some particular official act must be identified and proved.”

An illegal gratuity can take one of three forms: (1) for past action, that is, for an

official act already performed; (2) to entice a public official who has already staked
out a position favorable to the giver to maintain that position; or (3) to induce a public
official to propose, take, or shy away from some future act.”’

The government does not have to prove the intent of the giver or the receiver of

the illegal gratuity. What the government must prove is that the public official
received something to which he was not lawfully entitled for performance of an
official act.”®

% [Alnillegal gratuity does not require an intent to influence or be influenced. United States

v. Jefferson, 674 F.3d 332, 358 (4th Cir. 2012).

9518 U.S.C. 201(c)(1)(B). See Sun-Diamond Growers, 526 U.S. at 404 (noting elements

of 201(c)(1)(B)).

% Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. at 406, 414.

97 See United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398, 405 (1999) (noting

that an illegal gratuity “may constitute merely a reward for some future act that the public official
will take (or may already have determined to take), or for a past act that he already has taken.).

% See United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1013 (4th Cir. 1998) (noting that for

conviction regarding an illegal gratuity, [n]o corrupt intent to influence official behavior is required.
The payor simply must make the payment for or because of some official act.).
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The government does not need to prove the existence of a quid pro quo in order
to prove the payment or receipt of an illegal gratuity.”

Payments, sometimes referred to as goodwill gifts, made with no more than some
generalized hope or expectation of ultimate benefit on the part of the donor are neither
bribes nor gratuities, since they are made neither with the intent to engage in a
relatively specific quid pro quo with an official nor for or because of a specific official
act (or omission).'”

Also, token gifts given to a public official based upon that official’s position and
not linked to any identifiable act are not illegal gratuities.'"'

Public official means Member of Congress, Delegate, or Resident Commissioner,
either before or after such official has qualified, or an officer or employee or person acting
for or on behalf of the United States, or any department, agency or branch of Government
thereof, including the District of Columbia, in any official function, under or by authority
of any such department, agency, or branch of Government, or a juror. [201(a)(1)]

To be a public official under section 201(a), an individual must possess some degree
of official responsibility for carrying out a federal program or policy.'”

To determine whether a person is acting for or on behalf of the United States, the
proper inquiry is not simply whether the person had signed a contract with the United States

9 1d. at 1013.
100 74 at 1020 n.5.
101 See United States v. Jefferson, 674 F.3d 332, 353 (4th Cir. 2012).

192 Dixson v. United States, 465 U.S. 482, 499 (1984). See also id. at 496 (Section 201(a)
is applicable to all persons performing activities for or on behalf of the United States, whatever the
form of delegation of authority.); United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1013 n.2 (4th Cir. 1998)
(citing Dixson); United States v. Velazquez, 847 F.2d 140, 142 (4th Cir. 1988) (person bribed was a
county deputy in a county jail who “supervised the federal prisoners as a federal jailer would.).

In Hurley v. United States, 192 F.2d 297 (4th Cir. 1951), the Fourth Circuit read 201 to
cover three categories of persons:

(1) officers of the United States; (2) employees of the United States; and (3)
persons acting for the United States in any official function. The phrase “in any
official function, therefore, modifies only the word “person and not “officer or
employee. When the bribee is an officer of the United States, there is no necessity
to show that he was acting in an official capacity .... We hold, therefore, that since
[the defendant] was an officer of the United States, it was not necessary to allege
or prove that he was acting in an official function.*** It is sufficient if it be shown
that the bribee was an officer of the United States and that the bribe was given
“with intent to influence him to commit or aid in committing *** any fraud, on
the United States or with intent “to induce him to do or omit to do any act in
violation of his lawful duty.

192 F.2d at 299-300.
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or agreed to serve as the Government’s agent, but rather whether the person occupies a
position of public trust with official federal responsibilities.'®®

A bribe under 201(b) need not be given directly to the public official; it may be given
indirectly to the public official. Additionally, the bribe can be an offer or promise given to
the public official to give anything of value to or for any other person or entity. 18 U.S.C.
201(b)(1), (b)(2). (Note that 201(c) does not contain this any other person or entity
language.)

Official act means any decision or action on any question, matter, cause, suit,
proceeding or controversy, which may at any time be pending, or which may by law be
brought before any public official, in such official’s official capacity, or in such official’s
place of trust or profit. [201(a)(3)]'™

The Government must show that the public official undertook an official act. To
prove an official act the Government must prove two things.'”® First, the Government
must identify a question, matter, cause, suit, proceeding, or controversy that may at any
time be pending or may by law be brought before a public official.'® This requires a
showing of a formal exercise of governmental power that is similar in nature to a lawsuit
before a court, a determination before an agency, or a hearing before a committee.'” It
must also be something specific and focused that is pending or may by law be brought
before a public official.'®

Second, the Government must prove that the public official made a decision or took
an action on that question, matter, cause, suit, proceeding, or controversy, or that he agreed
to do so.'” That decision or action may include using his official position to exert pressure
on another official to perform an official act, or to advise another official, knowing or
intending that such advice will form the basis for an official act by another official. Setting
up a meeting, talking to another official, or organizing an event or agreeing to do
so—without more—does not count as a decision or action on that matter.''°

The government does not have to prove that the official receiving the bribe took any
affirmative action to perform his part of the corrupt bargain.'"!

193 Dixson, 465 U.S. at 496.

104 See United States v. Valdes, 475 F.3d 1319 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (en banc), which held
that a police officer disclosing information from databases does not constitute an “official act. The
D.C. Circuit held that thesix-term series [“question, matter, cause, suit, proceeding or controversy]
[in 201(a)(3)] refers to a class of questions or matters whose answer or disposition is determined by
the government. 475 F.3d at 1324.

195 McDonnell v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2355, 2368 (2016).

106 Id

197 Id. at 2369, 2372.
108 1. at 2372.

109 Id at 2368.

10 4. at 2372, 2375.

" Wilson v. United States, 230 F.2d 521, 526 (4th Cir. 1983) (prosecution under former
202, a companion statute, which contained language quite similar to 201).
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The official act offered in exchange for the bribe need not be harmful to the
government or inconsistent with the official’s legal obligations. The critical question is
whether the government official solicited something of value with a corrupt intent, i.e., in
exchange for an official act.''? It is not a defense that the official act sought to be influenced
would have been done anyway regardless of the fact that the bribe was received or
accepted. That is to say, even if the defendant acted as he or she normally would if the
bribe had not been requested, the crime of bribery has still been committed.'"?

[1]t is not necessary to find that the action or result sought by whoever hypothetically
gives the bribe is something that was in fact within the power of the official in question. It
would not be possible, on the other hand, for you to find a case of bribery [or illegal
gratuity] if the action sought was so far outside the purview of the official’s duties or
possible power or possible authority that it would be unreasonable for any reasonable man
to have supposed the official could have done anything about that particular subject.''*

The following instructions apply to bribery, 201(b):

A bribe requires that the payment be made or received corruptly, that is with the intent
either to induce a specific act or be influenced in performance of a specific act.'"

An act is done corruptly if is done with the intent to receive a specific benefit in return
for the payment.''®

[Flor bribery there must be a quid pro quo -a specific intent to give or receive
something of value in exchange for an official act.!"’

Not every payment made to influence or reward an official is intended to corrupt him.
A payor has the intent to corrupt an official only if he makes a payment or promise with
the intent to engage in some fairly specific quid pro quo with that official. The defendant
must have intended for the official to engage in some specific act or omission or course of
action or inaction in return for the payment charged in the indictment.''®

To prove bribery, the government is not required to prove an expressed intention (or
agreement) to engage in a quid pro quo. Such an intent may be established by
circumstantial evidence.

Also, the government need not show that the defendant intended for his payments to
be tied to specific official acts (or omissions). But the government must show that the payor
intended for each payment to induce the official to adopt a specific course of action. Bribery
requires the intent to effect an exchange of money (or gifts) for specific official action (or

112 United States v. Quinn, 359 F.3d 666, 675 (4th Cir. 2004) (internal citations omitted).
113 [d
1% United States v. Carson, 464 F.2d 424, 431-32 (2d Cir. 1972).

U5 United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1021 (4th Cir. 1998) (prosecution under 18
U.S.C. 666).

16 14, at 1013.
"7 United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398, 404-05 (1999).

18 Jennings, 160 F.3d at 1018-19. In Jennings, the defendant was the payor. If the
defendant is the public official/bribee, the wording should be changed appropriately.

19 1d. at 1014.
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inaction), but each payment need not be correlated with a specific official act.'? It is not
necessary for the government to prove that the payor intended to induce the official to
perform a set number of official acts in return for the payments. The quid pro quo
requirement is satisfied so long as the evidence shows a course of conduct of favors and
gifts flowing to a public official in exchange for a pattern of official actions favorable to
the donor.'”! Therefore, the government only has to show that payments were made with
the intent of obtaining a specific type of official action or favor in return.'?

The quid pro quo requirement is satisfied if you find that the government has
established beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant agreed to accept things of value
in exchange for performing [or declining to perform] official acts on an as-needed basis,
so that whenever the opportunity presents itself, the defendant would take [or fail to take]
specific action on the payor’s behalf.'*

NOTE

Section 201 prohibits two types of payments to federal officials: bribes and illegal
gratuities. Bribes are corruptly given with intent to influence any official act. Illegal
gratuities are given for or because of any official act. Whether a payment is a bribe or an
illegal gratuity depends on the intent of the payor. United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d
1006, 1013 (4th Cir. 1998). Corrupt intent is the intent to receive a specific benefit in return
for the payment. The payor of a bribe must intend to engage in some more or less specific
quid pro quo with the official who receives the payment. Accordingly, a goodwill gift to
an official to foster a favorable business climate, given simply with the generalized hope
or expectation of ultimate benefit on the part of the donor does not constitute a bribe. /d.
(quotation marks and citation omitted). Vague expectations of some future benefit should
not be sufficient to make a payment a bribe. United States v. Allen, 10 F.3d 405, 411 (7th
Cir. 1993).

On the other hand, an illegal gratuity is a payment made to an official concerning a
specific official act (or omission) that the payor expected to occur in any event. No corrupt
intent to influence official behavior is required. The payor simply must make the payment
or gift for or because of some official act. Jennings, 160 F.3d at 1013 (quotations marks
and citation omitted). The gratuity and the [relevant] official act need not motivate each
other. United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 138 F.3d 961, 966 (D.C. Cir. 1998),
cert. granted in part, aff’d, 526 U.S. 398 (1999). The timing of the payment in relation to
the official act for which it is made is irrelevant. Jennings, 160 F.3d at 1014.

In Sun-Diamond Growers, the Supreme Court affirmed the reversal of a conviction
for giving a gratuity to the Secretary of Agriculture because the government did not prove
a link between the gift and a specific official act for or because of which it was given.

The distinguishing feature of each crime [in 201] is its intent element. Bribery
requires intent to influence an official act or to be influenced in an official act,

120 United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1014 (4th Cir. 1998) (quotation and citation
omitted).

121 Id.
2 14,
123 See United States v. Jefferson, 674 F.3d 332, 358 (4th Cir. 2012).
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while illegal gratuity requires only that the gratuity be given or accepted for or
because of an official act. In other words, for bribery there must be a quid pro
quo-a specific intent to give or receive something of value in exchange for an
official act. An illegal gratuity, on the other hand, may constitute merely a reward
for some future act that the public official will take (and may already have
determined to take), or for a past act that he has already taken.

United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398, 404-05 (1999).

Bribery and illegal gratuities are subsections of the same statutory scheme and are
therefore subject to the same definitions. United States v. Jefferson, 674 F.3d 332, 353 (4th
Cir. 2012).

Payment of an illegal gratuity is a lesser included offense of bribery. United States v.
Muldoon, 931 F.2d 282, 287 (4th Cir. 1991).

[Flederal bribery statutes have been construed to cover any situation in which the
advice or recommendation of a government employee would be influential, irrespective of
the employees specific authority (or lack of same) to make a binding decision. United
States v. Carson, 464 F.2d 424, 433 (2d Cir. 1972).

In United States v. Hare, 618 F.2d 1085, 1087 (4th Cir. 1980), the court held that a
loan with favorable interest and payment provisions constituted anything of value.
However, the statute of limitations started running with the making of the loan, not the
making of payments subject to the favorable interest rate or the missing of payments
without suffering late payment penalties.

18 U.S.C. 208 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Title 18, United States Code, Section 208 makes it a crime for a federal employee to
benefit personally from an official action. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that the defendant was an officer or employee of the executive branch or
of an independent agency of the federal government;

- Second, that the defendant participated personally and substantially in his
official, governmental capacity through decision, approval, disapproval,
recommendation, the rendering of advice, investigation, or otherwise;

- Third, that the defendant did so in a judicial or other proceeding, application,
request for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy, charge,
accusation, arrest, or other particular matter;

- Fourth, that the defendant knew that he, his spouse, or [other statutorily-listed
person or entity] had a financial interest in that particular matter; and

- Fifth, that the defendant did so willfully.'**

The government does not have to prove actual corruption, or that an actual loss was
suffered by the government.'?

124 United States v. Nevers, 7 F.3d 59, 62 (5th Cir. 1993).

125 United States v. Hedges, 912 F.2d 1397, 1402 (11th Cir. 1990) (citing United States v.
Miss. Valley Generating Co., 364 U.S. 520 (1961)) (predecessor statute).

45



TITLE 18

Negotiation is a communication between two parties with a view to reaching an
agreement. Negotiation connotes discussion and active interest on both sides. Preliminary
or exploratory talks do not constitute negotiation. Rather, to find a negotiation, you must
find that there was a process of submission and consideration of offers.'*

NOTE

See United States v. Lund, 853 F.2d 242 (4th Cir. 1988).

Section 208 establishes an objective standard of conduct. United States v. Hedges,
912 F.2d 1397, 1402 (11th Cir. 1990).

The Eleventh Circuit held that 208 is a strict liability offense statute, requiring
knowledge only as to the fourth element, that a statutorily-listed person had a financial
interest in the defendant’s official work. /d. at 1402.

Under the sentencing scheme in 216(a), a felony conviction requires willfulness.
Otherwise, the conduct is punishable as a misdemeanor.

Liability for conflict of interest may be founded on a variety of acts leading up to the
formation of a contract even if those acts are not specifically mentioned in the text of
section 208(a). United States v. Selby, 557 F.3d 968, 972-73 (9th Cir. 2009).

Section 208(b) sets forth a number of exceptions, which might be construed as
affirmative defenses. See United States v. Guilbert, 692 F.2d 1340, 1343 (11th Cir. 1982)
(the existence of just cause or excuse for an assault in violation of 18 U.S.C. 113(a)(3) is
an affirmative defense, and the government does not have the burden of pleading or
proving its absence).

18 U.S.C. 211 ACCEPTING OR ASKING FOR ANYTHING OF VALUE TO
OBTAIN APPOINTIVE PUBLIC OFFICE

Title 18, United States Code, Section 211 makes it a crime to ask for or receive any
thing of value in return for supporting any person for any appointive office under the
United States. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of
the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

1
- First, that the defendant asked for or received any money or thing of value; and

- Second, that the thing of value was in return for the promise of support or the
use of influence in obtaining for any person any appointive office or place under
the United States.

- First, that the defendant asked for or received any thing of value; and

- Second, that the thing of value was asked for or received in return for helping a
person to obtain employment under the United States either by referring his

126 Id. at 1403 n.2 (quoting instruction given by district court).
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name to an executive department or agency of the United States, or by requiring
the payment of a fee because the person obtained employment.

NOTE

The statute covers the sale of non-existent offices. This Act penalized corruption. It
is no less corrupt to sell an office one may never be able to deliver than to sell one he can.
United States v. Hood, 343 U.S. 148, 151 (1952).

18 U.S.C. 215 RECEIVING GIFTS FOR PROCURING LOANS

Title 18, United States Code, Section 215 makes it a crime to receive a gift for
procuring a loan from a financial institution. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

215(a)(1)
- First, that the defendant gave, offered, or promised anything which exceeded
$1,000.00 in value to any person;

- Second, that the thing was given in connection with any business or transaction
of a financial institution; and

- Third, that the defendant did so corruptly and with intent to influence or reward
an officer, director, employee, agent, or attorney of the financial institution.

215(a)(2)
- First, that the defendant was an officer, director, employee, agent, or attorney of
a financial institution;

- Second, that the defendant asked for or demanded for the benefit of any person,
or accepted or agreed to accept, anything which exceeded $1,000.00 in value;
and

- Third, that the defendant did so corruptly and intending to be influenced or
rewarded in connection with any business or transaction of the financial
institution.

An act is done corruptly if is done with the intent to receive a specific benefit in
return for the payment.'?’

“Financial institution means

(1) an insured depository institution (as defined in section 3(c)(2) of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act);

(2) a credit union with accounts insured by the National Credit Union Share
Insurance Fund;

(3) a Federal home loan bank or a member, as defined in section 2 of the Federal
Home Loan Bank Act (12 U.S.C. 1422), of the Federal home loan bank system;

(4) a System institution of the Farm Credit System, as defined in section 5.35(3) of
the Farm Credit Act of 1971;

127" United States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1013 (4th Cir. 1998) (18 U.S.C. 666
prosecution).
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(5) a small business investment company, as defined in section 103 of the Small
Business Investment Act of 1958 (15 U.S.C. 662);

(6) a depository institution holding company (as defined in section 3(w)(1) of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act);

(7) a Federal Reserve bank or a member bank of the Federal Reserve System.

(8) an organization operating under section 25 or section 25(a) of the Federal
Reserve Act;

(9) a branch or agency of a foreign bank (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (1)
and (3) of section 1(b) of the International Banking Act of 1978); or

(10) a mortgage lending business (as defined in section 27 of this title) or any person

or entity that makes in whole or in part a federally related mortgage loan as defined in
section 3 of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974. [18 U.S.C. 20]

NOTE

See United States v. Etheridge, 414 F. Supp. 609, 611 (E.D. Va. 1976) (“It is of no
consequence that the money was not paid until after the loan had been made, or that [the]
borrower did not know the bank officer was sharing in the fee.).

18 U.S.C. 228 FAILURE TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT

Title 18, United States Code, Section 228 makes it a crime to fail to pay a past due
child support obligation, or to travel in interstate commerce with intent to evade a support
obligation. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:

228(a)(1)"**
- First, that the defendant failed to pay;

- Second, a past due support obligation, which is defined as any amount ...
determined under a court order or an order of an administrative process pursuant
to the law of a state to be due from a person for the support and maintenance of
a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. The past due
support obligation must have remained unpaid for more than one year or be
greater than $5,000.00;

- Third, with respect to a child who resides in another state; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully.'?’

- [Fifth, that the defendant has a prior conviction for the same offense.]
228(a)(2)

130

128 A second conviction is a felony. 18 U.S.C. 228(¢).
129 United States v. Johnson, 114 F.3d 476, 482 (4th Cir. 1997).

130 Prior convictions used as a basis for a sentencing enhancement need not be pled in the
indictment or submitted to the jury for proof beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Cheek,
415 F.3d 349 (4th Cir. 2005).
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- First, that the defendant traveled in interstate or foreign commerce;

- Second, that the defendant owed a past due support obligation, which is defined
as any amount ... determined under a court order or an order of an administrative
process pursuant to the law of a state to be due from a person for the support and
maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is
living. The past due support obligation must have remained unpaid for more
than one year or be greater than $5,000.00; and

- Third, that the defendant traveled with the intent to evade the support obligation.
228(a)(3)

- First, that the defendant failed to pay;

- Second, a past due support obligation, which is defined as any amount ...
determined under a court order or an order of an administrative process pursuant
to the law of a state to be due from a person for the support and maintenance of
a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. The past due
support obligation must have remained unpaid for more than two years or be
greater than $10,000.00;

- Third, with respect to a child who resides in another state; and

- Fourth, that the defendant did so willfully.

If a disputed issue is whether the past due support obligation is unpaid

for more than one year or two years, or is greater than $5,000 or $10,000,
the court should consider giving a lesser included offense instruction.

Willfulness is defined as the voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal

duty."!

Interstate commerce includes commerce between one State, Territory, Possession, or
the District of Columbia and another State, Territory, Possession, or the District of
Columbia. [18 U.S.C. 10]

Foreign commerce includes commerce with a foreign country. [18 U.S.C. 10]

Reside means the act or fact of living in a given place permanently or for an
extended period of time.'*?

The government must prove the existence of a state judicial or administrative order
creating the support obligation. The government does not need to prove the facts which
were the basis for the support order, including the fact of parentage.'*®

NOTE

In United States v. Mattice, 186 F.3d 219 (2d Cir. 1999), the defendant argued that
to establish willfulness, the government had to prove that he had sufficient disposable

31 See Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192, 201 (1991). See also United States v. Fields,
500 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 2007) (finding that to prove willfulness, the government must prove
that the defendant knew his child resided in another state and that he refused to pay.).

132 United States v. Novak, 607 F.3d 968 (4th Cir. 2010).
133 Johnson, 114 F.3d at 482.
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income to pay his entire past due support obligation during the period charged in the
indictment. Writing for the court, then-Circuit Judge Sotomayor disagreed. Congress’s
choice of any amount, rather than the amount, is significant. This language suggests that
Congress intended to make partial failures to pay actionable ..., and that defendants who
can pay some of their past due support obligations but fail to do so can be held liable. 186
F.3d at 227. The Second Circuit nevertheless found that if a defendant is unable to pay
even some of his past due child support obligations, his failure to pay cannot be either
voluntary or intentional and thus cannot be willful .... /d. at 228. As a defense to the
charge, the court found that a defendant is free to present evidence that during the period
charged in the indictment, his income was not sufficient, after meeting his basic
subsistence needs, to enable him to pay any portion of the support obligation. /d. at 229.

In United States v. Ballek, 170 F.3d 871 (9th Cir. 1999), the court found that
willfully can be read one of two ways: having the money and refusing to use it for child
support; or, not having the money because one has failed to avail oneself of the available
means of obtaining it. /d. at 873.

In United States v. Johnson, 114 F.3d 476, 483 (4th Cir. 1997), the defendant relied
on United States v. Mendoza-Lopez, 481 U.S. 828 (1987), to relitigate the parentage
issue. The Fourth Circuit assumed the principle applied, but found that Johnson could not
meet the critical requirement that he had no means within the state court system to
challenge the support order.

Section 228(b) states [t]he existence of a support obligation that was in effect for the
time period charged in the indictment or information creates a rebuttable presumption
that the obligor has the ability to pay the support obligation for that time period. One
court has held this provision unconstitutional, but severable from the rest of the statute.
United States v. Grigsby, 85 F. Supp. 2d 100 (D.R.1. 2000).

In United States v. Kerley, 544 F.3d 172 (2d Cir. 2008), the defendant was charged
in a two-count indictment, because there were two children, although only one order. The
Second Circuit found that Congress failed to specify that the unit of prosecution was the
child involved, and therefore, applying the rule of lenity in favor of the defendant, the
court ruled the indictment multiplicitous.

In United States v. Novak, 607 F.3d 968 (4th Cir. 2010), the Fourth Circuit pointed
out that 228 contains a specific venue provision, which provides that the prosecution may
be brought in the district in which the obliger resided.

18 U.S.C. 229 CHEMICAL WEAPONS

Title 18, United States Code, Section 229 makes it a crime to develop, produce,
otherwise acquire, transfer directly or indirectly, receive, stockpile, retain, own, possess,
use, or threaten to use, any chemical weapon. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

229(a)(1)
- First, that the defendant developed, produced, otherwise acquired, transferred

directly or indirectly, received, stockpiled, retained, owned, possessed, used, or
threatened to use; chemical weapon; and
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- Second, that the defendant did so knowingly.'**
229(a)(2)

- First, that the defendant [assisted or induced, in any way, any person] or
[attempted] or [conspired]

- Second, that the defendant [assisted or induced, in any way, any person] or
[attempted] or [conspired] to develop, produce, otherwise acquire, transfer
directly or indirectly, receive, stockpile, retain, own, possess, use, or threaten to
use, any chemical weapon; and

- That the defendant did so knowingly.

AGGRAVATED PENALTY [229A(a)(2)]
Did the defendant’s conduct result in the death of another person?
Chemical weapon means the following, together or separately:

(a) a toxic chemical and its precursors, except where intended for a purpose not
prohibited under Chapter 11B as long as the type and quantity is consistent with such a
purpose;

(b) a munition or device, specifically designed to cause death or other harm
through toxic properties of those toxic chemicals specified in (a) above, which would be
released as a result of the employment of such munition or device;

(c) any equipment specifically designed for use directly in connection with the
employment of munitions or devices specified in (b) above. [ 229F(1)]

Precursor means any chemical reactant which takes part at any stage in the
production by whatever method of a toxic chemical. The term includes any key
component of a binary or multicomponent chemical system. [ 229F(6)(A)]

Key component of a binary or multicomponent chemical system means the
precursor which plays the most important role in determining the toxic properties of the
final product and reacts rapidly with other chemicals in the binary or multicomponent
system. [ 229F(3)]

Person means any individual, corporation, partnership, firm, association, trust,
estate, public or private institution, any State or any political subdivision thereof, or any
political entity within a State, any foreign government or nation or any agency,
instrumentality or political subdivision of any such government or nation, or other entity
located in the United States. [§229F(5)]

NOTE

Section 229(b) identifies certain exemptions.

Section 229(c) provides the bases for jurisdiction.

Section 229C excludes individual self-defense devices, including those using pepper
spray or chemical mace.

134 United States v. Johnson, 114 F.3d 476, 482 (4th Cir. 1997).
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The Supreme Court has determined that 229 does not reach a purely local crime [of]
an amateur attempt by a jilted wife to injury her husband’s lover, which ended up causing
only a minor thumb burn readily treated by rinsing with water. United States v. Bond, 572
U.S. ,134S.Ct. 2077, 2083 (2014).

18 U.S.C. 241 CONSPIRING AGAINST CIVIL RIGHTS

Title 18, United States Code, Section 241 makes it a crime to conspire with someone
else to injure or intimidate another person in the exercise of his civil rights. A conspiracy
is an agreement between two or more persons to join together to accomplish the unlawful
purpose. It is a kind of partnership in crime in which each member becomes the agent of
every other member. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government must prove
each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that two or more persons agreed to injure, oppress, threaten, or intimidate
any person;

- Second, in that person’s free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege
secured to him by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or because of
his having exercised his right or privilege [the right or privilege should be
identified and explained to the jury]; and

- Third, that the defendant knew of the agreement and willfully participated in the
agreement.

AGGRAVATED PENALTY

Did death result from the act committed in violation of this law, or did the act
include kidnapping or an attempt to kidnap, aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt
to commit aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt to kill?

NOTE

See jury instructions for 18 U.S.C. 371.

See United States v. Falcone, 311 U.S. 205, 210 (1940); United States v. Hedgepeth,
418 F.3d 411, 420 (4th Cir. 2005); United States v. Tucker, 376 F.3d 236, 238 (4th Cir.
2004).

The right to choose is the right of qualified voters to cast their ballots and have them
counted at Congressional elections. [T]his is a right secured by the Constitution [and] is
secured against the action of individuals as well as of states. United States v. Classic, 313
U.S. 299, 315 (1941). See id. at 320. [A] primary election which involves a necessary
step in the choice of candidates for election as representatives in Congress, and which in
the circumstances of this case controls that choice, is an election within the meaning of
the constitutional provision ....).

Section 241 “embraces a conspiracy to stuff the ballot box at an election for federal
officers, and thereby to dilute the value of votes of qualified voters. Anderson v. United
States, 417 U.S. 211, 226 (1974). The government does not have to prove an intent to
change the outcome of the federal election. The intent required is the intent to have false
votes cast and thereby to injure the right of all voters in a federal election to express their
choice of a candidate and to have their expressions of choice given full value and effect,
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without being diluted or distorted by the casting of fraudulent ballots. /d. However, the
Court found the case was an inappropriate vehicle to decide whether a conspiracy to cast
false votes for candidates for state or local office was unlawful under 241. Id. at 228.

In United States v. Olinger, 759 F.2d 1293 (7th Cir. 1985), the Seventh Circuit held
that 241 covered the right of suffrage in state or local elections, under the equal
protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, if there is involvement of the state or of
one acting under the color of its authority. Under color of law has been construed as
identical with and as representing state action. It may be represented by action taken
directly under a state statute or by a state official acting under color of his office. 759
F.2d at 1304.

Misuses of power, possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because
the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law, is action taken under color of
state law. Classic, 313 U.S. at 326.

The government is permitted to present evidence of acts committed in furtherance of
the conspiracy even though they are not specified in the indictment. United States v.
Janati, 374 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2004).

In United States v. Cobb, 905 F.2d 784 (4th Cir. 1990), a 242 prosecution, the
defendant was a law enforcement officer, and the victim was a pretrial detainee subjected
to excessive force. The district court instructed the jury concerning the element of
deprivation of a right, as follows:

In considering whether or not a defendant deprived [the victim] of his
constitutional right not to be subjected to unreasonable and excessive force,
you should determine whether the force used by that defendant was necessary
in the first place or was greater than the force that would appear reasonably
necessary to an ordinary, reasonable, and prudent person.

A law enforcement officer is justified in the use of any force which he
reasonably believes to be necessary to effect an arrest or hold someone in
custody and of any force which he reasonably believes to be necessary to
defend himself or another from bodily harm.

Provocation by mere insulting or threatening words will not excuse a physical
assault by a law enforcement officer. Mere words, without more, do not
constitute provocation or aggression on the part of the person saying those
words. No law enforcement officer is entitled to use force against someone
based on that person’s verbal statements alone.

In determining whether the force used in this case was excessive or
unwarranted, you should consider such factors as the need for the application
of force, the relationship between the need and the amount of force that was
used, the extent of injury inflicted, and whether force was applied in a good
faith effort to maintain or restore discipline or maliciously and sadistically for
the very purpose of causing harm.

905 F.2d at 787-88.
Regarding the element of willfulness, the district court instructed as follows:

[The government] must show that a defendant had the specific intent to deprive
[the victim] of his right not to be subjected to unreasonable and excessive
force. If you find that a defendant knew what he was doing and that he
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intended to do what he was doing, and if you find that he did violate a
constitutional right, then you may conclude that the defendant acted with the
specific intent to deprive the victim of that constitutional right.

Id. at 788.

In Cobb, the victim’s constitutional right was a Fourteenth Amendment right to be free
from the use of excessive force that amounted to punishment. /d. at 788. Therefore, it
would have been appropriate for the trial court to have instructed the jury that to have
been excessive, the use of force must have been intended as punishment. Although the
instruction was far from perfect, it fairly stated the controlling law.

Other protected rights include the following:

The right to vote. United States v. Classic, 313 U.S. 299, 323 (1941). Voter
bribery and honest elections fall under 42 U.S.C. 1973i. United States v.
McLean, 808 F.2d 1044, 1046 (4th Cir. 1987).

The right to report a crime. In re Quarles, 158 U.S. 532, 535 (1895).

The right to testify at trial. United States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616, 626-27 (5th
Cir. Unit B 1982), superseded on other grounds by rule, Fed. R. Evid.
804(b)(6).

The right not to be subject to cruel and unusual punishment. United States v.
LaVallee, 439 F.3d 670, 686 (10th Cir. 2006).

The right not to be deprived of liberty without due process of law. This right
includes the right to be kept free from harm while in official custody. No person
may ever be physically assaulted, intimidated, or otherwise abused intentionally
and without justification by a person acting under the color of the laws of any
state. United States v. Bigham, 812 F.2d 943, 949 (5th Cir. 1987).

The right to enjoy public accommodations. 42 U.S.C. 2000a. The presence of
electronic video games turns a convenience store into a supplier of
entertainment and therefore a place of public accommodation. United States v.
Baird, 85 F.3d 450, 454 (9th Cir. 1996). In United States v. Piche, 981 F.2d 706
(4th Cir. 1992), superseded on other grounds by statute, 18 U.S.C. 3664, the
defendant was prosecuted for interfering with Asian-American men because
they were enjoying the goods and services of a public facility. The district court
charged the jury that [a] place of public accommodation is any establishment
that is used by members of the general public for entertainment, that is,
recreation, fun, or pleasure, and in which the sources of entertainment move in
interstate commerce. 981 F.2d at 716.

A pretrial detainee has a Fourteenth Amendment right to be from the use of

excessive force, an arrestee has a Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable
seizures, and a convict has an Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual
punishment. United States v. Cobb, 905 F.2d 784, 788 and 788 n.7 (4th Cir. 1990).

18 U.S.C. 242 CIVIL RIGHTS - COLOR OF LAW

Title 18, United States Code, Section 242 makes it a crime to deprive any person of
his civil rights under color of law. For you to find the defendant guilty, the government
must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:
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- First, that [name of victim] was present in South Carolina;

- Second, that the defendant deprived [name of victim] of a right secured or
protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States [the right infringed
must be identified], or to different punishments, pains, or penalties on account
of such person being an alien, or by reason of his color or race;

- Third, that the defendant acted under color of law; and
- Fourth, that the defendant acted willfully.'*®
AGGRAVATED PENALTIES

1. Did bodily injury result from the act committed in violation of this law, or did
the act include the use, attempted use, or threatened use of a dangerous weapon,
explosives, or fire?

2. Did death result from the act committed in violation of this law, or did the act
include kidnapping or an attempt to kidnap, aggravated sexual abuse, or an
attempt to commit aggravated sexual abuse, or an attempt to kill?

Under color of law means the real or purported use of authority provided by law. A
person acts under color of law when that person acts in his or her official capacity or
claims to act in his or her official capacity. Acts committed under color of law include
not only the actions of officials within the limits of their lawful authority, but also the
actions of officials who exceed the limits of their lawful authority while purporting or
claiming to act in performance of their official duties."*

Bodily injury means a cut, abrasion, bruise, burn, or disfigurement; physical pain;
illness; impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or mental faculty; or any
other injury to the body, no matter how temporary.'?’

Physical abuse or violence is not necessarily required to prove a violation of this
statute.'**

NOTE

In United States v. Cobb, 905 F.2d 784 (4th Cir. 1990), the defendant was a law
enforcement officer, and the victim was a pretrial detainee subjected to excessive force.
The district court instructed the jury concerning the element of deprivation of a right, as
follows:

135 See United States v. Perkins, 470 F.3d 150, 153 n.3 (4th Cir. 2006); United States v.
Cobb, 905 F.2d 784, 789 (4th Cir. 1990).

136 0’Malley, Grenig & Lee, Federal Jury Practice and Instructions 29.04 (5th ed. 2000).
See United States v. Ramey, 336 F.2d 512, 515-16 (4th Cir. 1964) (“under color of law means under
pretense of law, and includes misuse of power possessed by virtue of state law and made possible
only because the wrongdoer is clothed with authority of state law); Screws v. United States, 325
U.S. 91, 111 (1945) (acts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties are included
whether they hew to the line of their authority or overstep it).

137 18 U.S.C. § 831(£)(5), 1365(g)(4), 1515(a)(5), and 1864(d)(2). See also Perkins, 470 at
161 (physical pain alone or any injury to the body, no matter how fleeting, suffices to establish
bodily injury).

138 United States v. Ramey, 336 F.2d 512, 514 (4th Cir. 1964).
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In considering whether or not a defendant deprived [the victim] of his
constitutional right not to be subjected to unreasonable and excessive force,
you should determine whether the force used by that defendant was necessary
in the first place or was greater than the force that would appear reasonably
necessary to an ordinary, reasonable, and prudent person.

A law enforcement officer is justified in the use of any force which he
reasonably believes to be necessary to effect an arrest or hold someone in
custody and of any force which he reasonably believes to be necessary to
defend himself or another from bodily harm.

Provocation by mere insulting or threatening words will not excuse a physical
assault by a law enforcement officer. Mere words, without more, do not
constitute provocation or aggression on the part of the person saying those
words. No law enforcement officer is entitled to use force against someone
based on that person’s verbal statements alone.

In determining whether the force used in this case was excessive or
unwarranted, you should consider such factors as the need for the application
of force, the relationship between the need and the amount of force that was
used, the extent of injury inflicted, and whether force was applied in a good
faith effort to maintain or restore discipline or maliciously and sadistically for
the very purpose of causing harm.

905 F.2d at 787-88.
Regarding the element of willfulness, the district court instructed as follows:

[The government] must show that a defendant had the specific intent to deprive
[the victim] of his right not to be subjected to unreasonable and excessive
force. If you find that a defendant knew what he was doing and that he
intended to do what he was doing, and if you find that he did violate a
constitutional right, then you may conclude that the defendant acted with the
specific intent to deprive the victim of that constitutional right.

Id. at 788.

In Cobb, the victim’s constitutional right was a Fourteenth Amendment right to be
free from the use of excessive force that amounted to punishment. /d. at 788. Therefore, it
would have been appropriate for the trial court to have instructed the jury that to have
been excessive, the use of force must have been intended as punishment. Although the
instruction was far from perfect, it fairly stated the controlling law.

Other protected rights include the following:

- The right to vote. United States v. Classic, 313 U.S. 299, 323 (1941). Voter
bribery and honest elections fall under 42 U.S.C. 1973(i). United States v.
MecLean, 808 F.2d 1044, 1046 (4th Cir. 1987).

- The right to report a crime. In re Quarles, 158 U.S. 532, 535 (1895).

- The right to testify at trial. United States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616, 626-27 (5th
Cir. Unit B 1982), superseded on other grounds by rule, Fed. R. Evid.
804(b)(6).

- The right not to be subject to cruel and unusual punishment. United States v.
LaVallee, 439 F.3d 670, 686 (10th Cir. 2006).
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- The right not to be deprived of liberty without due process of law. This right
includes the right to be kept free from harm while in official custody. “No
person may ever be physically assaulted, intimidated, or otherwise abused
intentionally and without justification by a person acting under the color of the
laws of any state. United States v. Bigham, 812 F.2d 943, 949 (5th Cir. 1987).

- The right to enjoy public accommodations. 42 U.S.C. 2000a. The presence of
electronic video games turns a convenience store into a supplier of
entertainment and therefore a place of public accommodation. United States v.
Baird, 85 F.3d 450, 454 (9th Cir. 1996). In United States v. Piche, 981 F.2d 706
(4th Cir. 1992), superseded on other grounds by statute, 18 U.S.C. 3664, the
defendant was prosecuted for interfering with Asian-American men because
they were enjoying the goods and services of a public facility. The district court
charged the jury that [a] place of public accommodation is any establishment
that is used by members of the general public for entertainment, that is,
recreation, fun, or pleasure, and in which the sources of entertainment move in
interstate commerce. 981 F.2d at 716.

A pretrial detainee has a Fourteenth Amendment right to be from the use of
excessive force, an arrestee has a Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable
seizures, and a convict has an Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual
punishment. United States v. Cobb, 905 F.2d 784, 788 and 788 n.7 (4th Cir. 1990).

18 U.S.C. 287 FALSE, FICTITIOUS OR FRAUDULENT CLAIMS

Title 18, United States Code, Section 287 makes it a crime to present a false claim
for money to an agency of the United States. For you to find the defendant guilty, the
government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

- First, that the defendant made or presented a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim
to an agency of the United States;

- Second, that the defendant knew at the time that the claim was false, fictitious,
or fraudulent;'*” and

- [Third, that the claim was material.]'*

139° A defendant must also proceed “with a consciousness that he was doing something
which was wrong or which violated the law. United States v. Maher, 582 F.2d 842, 847 (4th Cir.
1978).

140 In United States v. Greenberg, 842 F.31 1293 (4" Cir. 1988), the court indicated that
“Iw]e do not here decide whether materiality is an element of 287 and note that some courts have
recently concluded that it is not. The Second, Fifth, Sixth, Ninth and Tenth Circuits have all
concluded materiality is not an element.” However, in United States v. Snider, 502 F.2d 645 (4th
Cir. 1974), the court reversed the conviction of a Quaker tax protester for violating 26 U.S.C. 7205.
In dicta, the court stated that materiality has been required as an element of 287 in the same manner
as under 1001 and cited Johnson v. United States, 410 F.2d 38, 46 (8th Cir. 1969), where the Eighth
Circuit approved an instruction that included materiality. Snider, 502 F.2d at 652 n.12. But see
United States v. Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc., 525 F.3d 370, 378 (4th Cir. 2008) (materiality an
element under the civil False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. 3729 et seq.).
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The word claim relates solely to the payment or approval of a claim for money or
property to which a right is asserted against the government, based upon the
government’s own liability to the claimant.'"!

A statement (or claim) is material if it has a natural tendency to influence, or is
capable of influencing, the decision of the body to which it was addressed. It is irrelevant
whether the false statement (or claim) actually influenced or affected the decision-making
process. The capacity to influence must be measured at the point in time that the
statement (or claim) was made.'*

It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that the government received its
money’s worth.'#

NOTE

United States v. Ewing, 957 F.2d 115, 119 (4th Cir. 1992) (noting two elements of
offense).

In United States v. Maher, 582 F.2d 842 (4th Cir. 1978), the Fourth Circuit held the
district court had properly instructed the jury that 287 may be violated by the “submission
of a false claim, a fictitious claim or a fraudulent claim, if, in each instance, the defendant
acted with knowledge that the claim was false or fictitious or fraudulent and with a
consciousness that he was either doing something which was wrong or which violated the
law. 582 F.2d at 847.

Section 287 does not specify an intent to defraud as an element. /d.

[T]he submission of a false claim to a state agency to obtain federal funds that were
provided to the state falls within the parameters of 287. United States v. Bolden, 325 F.3d
471, 494 n.28 (4th Cir. 2003).

In United States v. Blecker, 657 F.2d 629 (4th Cir. 1981), the defendant argued that
§the government got its money’s worth. The court found that,

[t]his quantum meruit argument is simply a restatement of the contention that
conviction for violating 287 requires a showing of specific intent to defraud the
government a contention that we [have previously rejected] .... [Section] 287 is
phrased in the disjunctive, and a conviction under that statute may therefore be
based on proof that a claim submitted to the government is either false,
fictitious or fraudulent. [E]vidence that the government got its money’s worth
was no defense to this proof.

141 United States v. Duncan, 816 F.2d 153, 155 (4th Cir. 1987) (citing United States v.
Cohn, 270 U.S. 339, 345-46 (1926)). Regardless of whether a false voucher is submitted for a credit
or for reimbursement, the government potentially suffers a monetary loss. Therefore, we hold that
a voucher for reduction of liability for advanced funds is a claim under 287. Id. at 155. Duncan dealt
with a free airline ticket. During deliberations, the trial court instructed the jury that ownership of
the ticket was irrelevant. The Fourth Circuit reversed, holding that the government was required to
prove ownership of the free ticket.

192 United States v. Sarihifard, 155 F.3d 301, 306 (4th Cir. 1998).

143 United States v. Blecker, 657 F.2d 629, 634 (4th Cir. 1981) (287 does not require a
showing of specific intent to defraud the government).
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657 F.2d at 634.

Venue lies either where the claim was prepared, or where it was presented to the
government, or where the false claim was submitted to an intermediary in one district
who paid the claim and then transmitted a claim for reimbursement based on that
payment, as a matter of course, to a government agency in another district. /d. at 633.
Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC) contracted with the General Services
Administration (GSA) to provide computer and data processing services. CSC
subcontracted with Blecker for consulting services, and his claims were submitt